

# Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

All Theses and Dissertations

2016-07-01

# The Activity of Alkaline Glutaraldehyde Against Bacterial Endospores and Select Non-Enveloped Viruses

Justen Thalmus Despain Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Microbiology Commons</u>

#### **BYU ScholarsArchive Citation**

Despain, Justen Thalmus, "The Activity of Alkaline Glutaraldehyde Against Bacterial Endospores and Select Non-Enveloped Viruses" (2016). All Theses and Dissertations. 6510. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/6510

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen\_amatangelo@byu.edu.

The Activity of Alkaline Glutaraldehyde Against Bacterial Endospores and

Select Non-Enveloped Viruses

Justen Thalmus Despain

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Richard A. Robison, Chair Scott Weber Bradford Berges

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology

Brigham Young University

July 2016

Copyright © 2016 Justen Thalmus Despain

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

#### The Activity of Alkaline Glutaraldehyde Against Bacterial Endospores and Select Non-Enveloped Viruses

#### Justen Thalmus Despain Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, BYU Master of Science

Alkaline glutaraldehyde (GTA) has been used as a high level chemical disinfectant and sterilant for many years and is known to kill a broad spectrum of organisms ranging from vegetative eukaryotes to bacterial endospores. Although the mechanism of sporicidal action has been studied on numerous occasions, GTA's exact mechanism(s) of action are still debated.

In addition to the uncertainty of GTA's mechanism(s) of action, GTA has also shown significant variability in the time required to kill endospores and naked viruses. A better knowledge of the lethal mechanism(s) of GTA is needed to understand this discrepancy in kill times for GTA against spores of different species. Similar trends have been observed in GTA's activity against non-enveloped viruses.

Based on previous work, one proposed major mechanism of GTA's sporicidal activity is related to the number of available primary amines located on the surface of microbes. In this study, we have compared the efficacy of GTA on spores from 5 *Bacillus* species. We have also developed a method for staining these spores with amine reactive dyes to create fluorescent profiles correlating to the abundance of free amino groups on each spore type. We also describe a method for staining non-enveloped viruses to identify exposed primary amino groups on capsid proteins that may act as targets for GTA, using amine reactive Gold nanoparticles.

We found that GTA 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction times for various spore types varied at both the batch and species level. Spore coat thickness and fluorescence were useful tools in predicting the susceptibility of spores to GTA. Amine reactive gold particles (AuNPs) also proved useful in identifying virus susceptibility to GTA. Ultimately, more reliable disinfection testing methods are needed, and caution should be used when trying to extrapolate data generated from surrogate organisms to other species.

Keywords: endospore, glutaraldehyde, Alexa Fluor, poliovirus, human papilloma virus

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To Dr. R who gave me the means and opportunity to develop myself as a scientist.

To Dr. Weber and Dr. Berges for their support and aid in my research.

To Joseph Thiriot and Marcus Jackson for keeping me sane.

To Jessica Engle who taught me how to love science.

To my wife, Lynnae, for her love and support.

To my parents, who made me.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE i
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
TABLE OF CONTENTS iv
LIST OF TABLESviii
LIST OF FIGURES ix
Introduction1
Bacterial Endospores1
General Characteristics and Significance1
Sporulation and Development of Resistance
Spore Coat
Cortex
Core
Resistance to Biocides
Bacillus anthracis
Bacillus subtilis
Bacillus pumilus7
Bacillus atrophaeus7
Geobacillus stearothermophilus7
Naked Viruses
General Structure and Characteristics
Mechanisms of Resistance
Poliovirus

	Human Papillomavirus	. 10
Disinfe	ection	. 11
	Types of Disinfection and the Spaulding Classification	. 11
	Disinfectant Testing	. 12
	Approval of Chemicals used in the Reprocessing of Medical Instruments	. 14
	AOAC Sporicidal Test Method	. 15
	ASTM Virucidal test method	. 15
	Test Method Associated Discrepancies in Disinfection Data	. 16
	Organism Associated Discrepancies	. 17
Glutara	aldehyde	. 19
	Structures in Solution	. 19
	Chemistry and Reaction with Various Biomolecules	. 20
	Sporicidal Activity	. 22
	Virucidal activity	. 22
	Effect of Concentration	. 23
	Effect of Temperature	. 23
	Effect of pH	. 23
	Effect of Sodium Bicarbonate	. 24
	Clinical Use	. 24
Amine	Reactive Probes	. 25
	Structure and Properties	. 25
	N-hydroxysuccinimide and Tetrafluorophenyl esters	. 26
	Alexa Fluor <sup>TM</sup> Amine Reactive Dyes	. 26
	NHS Activated Gold Nanoparticles	. 27
Current Study		. 29

Materials and	Methods	. 31
	Bacterial Strains and Spores Production	. 31
	Viruses and Viral growth	. 31
	Spore labeling and Flow Cytometry	. 31
	Suspension Tests	. 32
	Glutaraldehyde	. 33
	Fluorescent Quenching Assay	. 33
	Protection Assay	. 33
	Spore Coat Removal	. 34
	Viral Labeling	. 34
	Electron Microcopy	. 35
	Blocking AuNP binding PV-1 using GTA	. 35
Results		. 36
	Comparison of Kill Curves and 6-Log Reduction Times for Different Batches	of
	Bacillus Spores	. 36
	Saturation of Spores with AF488	. 38
	Bacillus Species Fluorescent Profiles	. 40
	Correlation between Estimated 6-Log kill Times and Mean Fluorescent Peaks.	. 41
	Inhibition of AF488 binding by Treating Spores with GTA	. 42
	Blocking of GTA Sporicidal Activity Using AF647	. 45
	Effect of Removing Spore Coats	. 47
	Spore Coat Thickness	. 48
	Thickness to 6-Log <sub>10</sub> Reduction Estimates	. 50
	Viral staining with Gold Nanoparticles	. 51
	Blocking AuNP Binding to PV-1 with GTA	. 54

Discussion	
Conclusions	
References	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: A simple representation of the Spaulding Classification	12
Table 2: Examples of Surrogates	18
Table 3: Effect of AF647 Staining of De-coated B. subtilis spores on Susceptibility to GTA	47

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: A bacterial endospore. Exo – Exosporium; Co – coat; Cx – Cortex	. 3
Figure 2: Poliovirus, a non-enveloped virus	. 8
Figure 3: A representation of the many forms of aqueous glutaraldehyde	20
Figure 4: Reaction of glutaraldehyde with a primary amine	21
Figure 5: Structure of the Alexa Fluor dyes used in this study	27
Figure 6: Representation of NHS Gold nanoparticle with PEG linker	28
Figure 7: Comparison of Glutaraldehyde 6-Log <sub>10</sub> Reduction Estimates for 2 different batches of	f
spores	37
Figure 8: Mean fluorescence (MFU) of <i>B. anthracis</i> and <i>B. subtilis</i> spores after staining with	
different concentrations of Alexa Fluor 488	39
Figure 9: Fluorescent profiles of <i>Bacillus</i> species spores	40
Figure 10: Mean fluorescence vs. 6-Log <sub>10</sub> reduction time estimates	41
Figure 11: Reduction in fluorescence of <i>B. anthracis</i> spores	43
Figure 12: Reduction in fluorescence of <i>B. subtilis</i> spores	44
Figure 13: Log <sub>10</sub> reduction plots for <i>B. anthracis</i> spores pretreated with AF647	45
Figure 14: Log <sub>10</sub> reduction plots for <i>B. subtilis</i> spores pretreated with AF647	46
Figure 15: Comparison of protein coat thinckness for spores	48
Figure 16: Electron micrographs of the different types of spores used in this study	49
Figure 17: Spore protein coat thickness plotted against GTA 6-Log <sub>10</sub> reduction kill times for	
various spore species	50
Figure 18: AuNP labeling of latex particles, Polio-1 and HPV-18	52
Figure 19: Intensity plot profiles	53
Figure 20: Pretreatment of PV-1 with GTA blocks AuNP binding	54

#### Introduction

Disinfection of surfaces and materials is a subject that has been studied extensively in an effort to provide safe and effective inactivation of infectious organisms on everything from children's toys to precision surgical instruments. Yet, regardless of test standardization efforts and optimal selection of surrogate test organisms, there is still a lot of variability seen in both the time required to kill organisms, and the spectrum of organisms that are susceptible to a given disinfectant. Bacterial endospores and non-enveloped (naked) viruses have received particular attention, as their destruction is often the most difficult. Therefore, these agents are used in testing disinfectants purposed to be used as sterilants for sensitive medical devices. These two classes of microbes are also responsible for a number of clinically relevant diseases. This study aims to bring better understanding to some of the factors involved in glutaraldehyde-based disinfection testing. To begin, we will review what is known about bacterial endospores and naked viruses and their mechanisms for resistance to chemical disinfectants. This will be followed by an overview of some of the current methods and regulations for testing candidate disinfectants and a review of one of the more well studied disinfectants, glutaraldehyde.

#### **Bacterial Endospores**

#### General Characteristics and Significance

Bacterial endospores (spores) are formed primarily by a small number of gram-positive bacteria that are members of the *Bacillus* and *Clostridium* genera. Unlike spores from other organisms such as fungi and protozoans, bacterial spores are not part of the replication cycle, rather they are a defensive mechanism designed to allow bacteria to survive extreme conditions that would otherwise destroy vegetative organisms. Spores are resistant to the lethal effects of several classes of biocides, and can persist in extreme heat and dehydration conditions for extended periods of time. Spores are virtually ametabolic, but can convert back into a vegetative form upon sensing favorable environmental conditions (1-3). In the food and health industries, spores are considered the most resistant type of microorganisms, and are used to validate sterilization claims.

#### Sporulation and Development of Resistance

Sporulation is a process that is typically initiated as a result of nutrient starvation, though other factors are also involved in starting this process (4). Some Clostridia species are known for their ability to create organic solvents such as acetone during fermentation. This process is known as solventogenesis and it has been linked to induction of sporulation in clostridia spores (5). Divalent cations are generally added to media to produce high yields of resistant spores, as they are required for normal sporogenesis (6). The primary molecular signals of sporogenesis are still being defined. What is known, is that upregulation of histidine sensor kinase A moves phosphate through a relay system that phosphorylates and activates SpoA, the master regulator for initiating sporulation genes (1, 3, 7). Sporulation is a highly regulated process that once begun, cannot be stopped (8, 9). Once properly formed, bacterial endospores become highly resistant to heat, radiation, chemical disinfection, desiccation and mechanical destruction (10, 11)

At the onset of nutrient deprivation, the bacterial cell is split asymmetrically creating two compartments designated the mother cell or sporangium and the forespore, both of which contain a copy of the genome. The forespore is then engulfed by the mother cell creating a double lipid membrane around the spore. At this point, the proteins required for the spore coat and cortex peptidoglycan are formed in the mother cell and attached to the spore while the core begins to replace water with calcium and dipicolinic acid. Next, the cell's metabolism begins to shut down.

Once the forespore has completed the coat and peptidoglycan layers, the mother cell will lyse and release the fully formed spore (1, 4, 12, 13). Sporulation in *Bacillus subtilis* has been thoroughly studied and used as a model for defining sporulation events in other spore-forming bacteria (10, 14).

#### Spore Coat

There are three basic structures to bacterial endospores; the coat, cortex and core. Figure 1 shows an electron micrograph of an endospore with its various parts labeled. The coat is a thick layer of protein responsible for environmental fitness and in many cases, resistance to external stresses such as disinfection or extremes in temperature or salinity (15). Its thickness and protein composition can be modified by



Figure 1: A bacterial endospore. Exo – Exosporium; Co – coat; Cx – Cortex

changing sporulation media (4). Removal of spore coats renders spores susceptible to treatment with lysozyme, disinfectants and organic solvents (11, 16, 17). The spore coat has other functions in addition to those listed above. For example, the coat acts like a molecular sieve that can exclude large toxic molecules such as lysozyme but allow low molecular weight germinants such as D-alanine, access to receptors at the cortex (4, 15, 17). Some spore species, such as *Bacillus anthracis,* also have a loose fitting outer layer known as an exosporium in addition to their coat, although its function is not fully understood (17). The coat of *B. subtilis* is made up of at least 70 different proteins (1) and makes up 78% of the protein weight of spores (18). Of these proteins, there are some that regulate germination such as an alanine racemase enzyme, which converts D-alanine to L-alanine. *B. subtilis* mutants for this protein have been observed to germinate early while still encapsulated in the mother cell (19). CotA is a copper-dependent laccase found in the coat of *B subtilis*, that contributes to UV and peroxide protection by creating a pigment similar to melanin (20). The coat can also provide protection from phagocytosis by immune cells as well as protection against predation by nematodes and other predators (21, 22). Endospores generally have coats with two separate layers referred to as an inner and an outer coat (15). Coat compositions can be quite diverse between species (1). Between the coat and cortex is the outer membrane, the function of which is not well understood, though it is implicated in aiding spore formation. Its removal has little effect on the resistance or survival of the spore (23, 24).

#### Cortex

The cortex is composed of two distinct layers of peptidoglycan. The inner most layer is called the germ cell wall and is composed of peptidoglycan similar to that of vegetative organisms (25). The outer and thicker layer has the same general structure as normal peptidoglycan with alternating N-acetyl-glucosamine (NAG) and N-acetyl-muramic acid (NAM) and peptide side chains (26, 27), however, the outer layer contains muramic-δ-lactam and significantly fewer peptides attached to NAM units. As a result, outer spore peptidoglycan is also significantly less cross-linked than the germ cell peptidoglycan (26, 28). Between the cortex and the core is a highly impermeable inner lipid membrane that repels even small nonpolar molecules (29). The lipids found in the inner membrane have extremely low mobility, but they share

structure similar to that of the vegetative organism's membranes. What exactly causes this low mobility is not known, though it likely contributes to spore resistance (24, 30).

#### Core

The core is severely dehydrated and is made up of ribosomes, DNA, dipicolinic acid (DPA) and small acid-soluble proteins (SAPS). DPA makes up 5-15% of the spores dry weight and is involved in resistance to UV radiation and in the desiccation process of the core during sporulation (31). The replacement of water by DPA in the core is known to promote resistance to wet heat, while SASP are thought to contribute to spore resistance to dry heat, further desiccation and other forms of DNA damage (32, 33). SAPS make up 3-6 % of dry spore weight and saturate dormant spore DNA. They also have been shown to alter the conformation of DNA from the B to the A form, which contributes to UV resistance (33, 34).

#### Resistance to Biocides

In general, compounds that are bacteriostatic will also be sporostatic at similar concentrations. However, sporicidal and bactericidal concentrations usually differ significantly (35). Spores are resistant to several bactericidal agents, and therefore are often used as the standard for testing label claims of high level disinfection and sterilization processes (36). Spore are generally resistant to alcohols, quaternary ammonium compounds, many aldehydes, phenolic compounds, and organic solvents (2, 37-39).

#### Bacillus anthracis

*Bacillus* are a genus of Gram positive spore-forming rods. *B. anthracis* is one of the better known species in this genus. It has a number of unique biochemical properties that distinguish it from the other *Bacillus* species (40). *B. anthracis* spores are best known for their potential use as biological weapons due to their ability to cause pulmonary anthrax, a rapidly

progressing disease with a high mortality rate (41). These spores were mass produced as bioweapons during the Cold War and the organism is currently on the Centers for Disease Control's list of Tier 1 select agents (42). As such, *B. anthracis* has received a significant amount of interest and has been well studied. In addition to a protein coat, *B. anthracis* spores also have a loose fitting exosporium composed of protein, lipid, and carbohydrates. However, this exosporium has not been shown to contribute to either the spore's protection or pathogenesis (43, 44). The spore coat *of B. anthracis* is thinner than that of *B. subtilis*, though in overall size, *B. anthracis* is a mid-sized spore measuring about 1.5 μm in length. *B. subtilis* measures about 1.07 μm in length (10, 45).

#### Bacillus subtilis

*B. subtilis* is currently a model organism used to study general characteristics for most Gram positive rods and forms one of the smallest of the bacillus spores (45). The molecular mechanisms of sporulation have been heavily studied in *B. subtilis* such that most of what is currently known about endospores in relation to sporulation, dormancy, resistance and germination, has come as a result of studying *B. subtilis* (9, 14, 46). Its natural competency has made it popular for use in molecular biology (47). It is also used industrially to produce some enzymes and solvents (48). Compared to the other *Bacillus* species spores, *B. subtilis* has a very thick coat (10, 49, 50). It does not have an exosporium, though some studies have reported a top layer of the spore coat that is easily removed without removing the outer coat (4, 21, 51). *B. subtilis* has also been used as a surrogate for *B. anthracis* in testing biocides (52, 53).

#### Bacillus pumilus

*B. pumilus* spores are currently used in testing for the microbiocidal activity of UV light and other radiation based sterilization methods (36, 54). One study performed by NASA included a strain of *B. pumilus* that was more resistant to UV than any other *Bacillus* species ever reported (55). It has also been employed as an agricultural fungicide (56). *B. pumilus* has a thinner coat than *B. subtilis* which also is comprised of relatively few coat proteins, compared to other *Bacillus* species spores (50, 57). It is not known to cause disease in humans and is primarily used as a bioindicator for radiation sterilization.

#### Bacillus atrophaeus

*B. atrophaeus*, formerly *B. globigii*, is a Gram positive black or orange pigmented bacilli that is closely related to *B. subtilis*. The pigmentation is retained during sporulation and is thought to aid in resistance to UV radiation (58). It has been employed as a surrogate for *B. anthracis* in testing biocides and decontamination procedures of spores (59). It is currently used as a bio indicator to test dry heat and ethylene oxide sterilization methods (36). *B. atrophaeus* spores are similar in size to *B. anthracis* spores (45). It also is not known to cause disease in humans.

#### Geobacillus stearothermophilus

Formerly *Bacillus stearothermophilus*, *G. stearothermophilus* is a thermophilic bacterium first isolated in 1920 from canned corn (60). *G. stearothermophilus* can be found in hot springs as well as in soil (61). It has been shown to grow between 45 and 75 °C, though poorly below 50 °C, and has not been observed to cause disease in humans (60). Its spores are commonly employed as biological indicators in steam sterilization processes (36). Comparatively little has been studied on these spores. The outer coat is reported to be thinner than other *Bacillus* species,

yet interestingly, *G. stearothermophilus* makes one of the largest of the *Bacillus*-related spores (45, 50, 62).

#### Naked Viruses

#### General Structure and Characteristics

Viruses can be broadly classified into two categories: naked (hydrophilic) and enveloped (lipophilic). Naked viruses include those from the following families: *Adenoviridae, Papillomaviridae, Polyomaviridae, Reoviridae, Caliciviridae, Picornaviridae, Astroviridae, Hepeviridae, Parvoviridae,* and *Anelloviridae.* Naked viruses have a very simple structure consisting of a protein capsid containing a



Figure 2: Poliovirus, a non-enveloped virus

DNA or RNA genome. Viruses are obligate intracellular parasites and as such, require the use of cell culture for scientific study. Many of them enter cells using receptor mediated endocytosis, then release their genome into the host cells cytoplasm for replication or transport to the nucleus. After several replication cycles, the virus progeny will typically lyse the host cell to reenter the surrounding environment, although this strategy is not the case for all of the above listed virus families. Their infection and replication strategies can vary significantly.

#### Mechanisms of Resistance

Disinfection of viruses is somewhat different than that of vegetative organisms or even spores. The general mechanism for killing vegetative organisms with chemical biocides is by destroying structures related to metabolism such as denaturation of protein or fixation of structures to disable function. Since viruses are ametabolic, the action of many chemical disinfectants is to inactivate them by blocking viral entry into cells or destroying the genome (63). As such, there are much fewer targets, especially on naked viruses, on which disinfectants can act. In addition, naked viruses can aggregate into bodies while replicating within cells that can act as barriers to disinfection for those virions buried deep within the aggregate (63, 64). Naked viruses are considered to be more resistant to chemical disinfectants and have greater environmental stability than enveloped viruses (65, 66). Two examples of naked viruses will be discussed below.

#### Poliovirus

Human poliovirus is a small (~30 nm), non-enveloped, icosahedral, (+) ssRNA virus from the *Picornaviridae* family and is known for its ability to cause poliomyelitis. As an enterovirus, polio spreads via fecal-oral transmission and replicates in the gastrointestinal tract using CD155 for cell entry. Poliovirus replicates in the cytoplasm and its genome is translated into one long peptide chain that self cleaves to yield the capsid proteins comprised of VP1, VP2 and VP3, as well as various replication components including an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and an RNA helicase. How poliovirus lyses and exits cells is not fully understood (67). There are three serotypes of poliovirus designated type 1 (Mahoney), type 2 (Lansing), and type 3 (Leon), with type one being the most prevalent and most often used in virucidal testing. In a report by the CDC, the last reported case of type 2 poliovirus was in India in 1999, while no incidences of type 3 poliovirus have been reported since November of 2012. Type 1 has still been reported in Europe and the West Pacific (68). Poliovirus displays significant resistance to biocides and is often used in virucidal disinfectant testing, since it is relatively easy to culture (69-71). Disinfectants effective against poliovirus include hypochlorite, aldehydes, and peroxide (63). Ethyl alcohol is effective against poliovirus producing a 4 log kill in less than 3 minutes, while isopropyl alcohol seems to have little to no effect on the virus at all (72, 73). GTA shows good virucidal activity (> 3 log<sub>10</sub> reduction) after 3 minutes against poliovirus (71, 74, 75). From 1991 to 2004, a series of papers were published on GTA's effect in low concentrations on poliovirus and its capsid proteins. They concluded that location of lysine residues on VP1's surface were related to level of glutaraldehyde inactivation of poliovirus (75-77).

#### Human Papillomavirus

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is another small (~50 nm) non-enveloped circular dsDNA virus. HPV infects keratinocytes at the base of the epidermis and as a result of infection, can create warts, and in some cases, cancer. HPV-16 and 18 are best known for their role in causing genitorectal cancers in men and women (78, 79). HPV is non-cytolytic and does not induce visible cytopathic effects in traditional cell cultures. It is difficult to culture in vitro since its replication cycle is tied to the differentiation state of the epidermal tissues it infects. Organotypic raft cultures were developed in the 1990's to allow HPV to be grown in vitro (80). Because of its difficulty to culture and lack of an infectious virus assay, there was very little known about the susceptibility of HPV to chemical disinfection until recently. Saitanu suggested in 1975 that viruses from the then *Papovaviridae* family may be more resistant, given their greater environmental stability (81). Recent developments have allowed HPV disinfections studies to be done. Viable HPV can be quantified by PCR amplification of the spliced E1^E4 mRNA produced by HPV upon successful infection (82). In 2014, our lab published the first known disinfectant susceptibility data for HPV-16. We showed that HPV-16 displays resistance to low level, broad spectrum disinfectants such as alcohols and phenols, similar to enteroviruses and

other naked viruses. HPV-16 however was found to be completely resistant to commercial GTA, even at extended contact times (82).

#### Disinfection

#### Types of Disinfection and the Spaulding Classification

There are two categories of pathogen-destroying agents: those that are used on animate surfaces (antiseptics) and those used on inanimate surfaces (disinfectants). The goal of disinfection is to remove or kill infectious pathogens from objects that could possibly transmit these organisms. Sterilization is defined as the complete absence of life. To further classify disinfectants, Earl Spaulding published a paper in 1939 on the disinfection of medical instruments in relation to how and where the instruments were used (83). He divided medical instruments into three categories; Critical, Semi-critical and Non-critical, which called for treatment by sterilants, high level-disinfectants, and low-level disinfectants, respectively.

Critical instruments are those that if used when contaminated would pose a high risk for infection. These instruments are typically used in sterile body sites such as the cardiovascular system and are therefore required to be sterilized using an autoclave at 121 °C for a recommended time. For instruments that are water or heat sensitive, liquid chemical sterilants, such as GTA were recommended as a substitute (83, 84).

Semi-critical instruments are those that contact mucus membranes or non-intact skin. This includes endoscopes, anesthesia equipment, etc., and as such, must be processed minimally using high-level disinfectants, such as hydrogen peroxide, glutaraldehyde, ortho-phthaldehyde or peracetic acid. The FDA defines a high-level disinfectant as a "sterilant used for a shorter contact time to achieve a 6-log<sub>10</sub> kill of an appropriate *Mycobacterium* species" (72).

Non-critical instruments would be things that contact intact skin, such as stethoscopes, or contact thermometers. These can be disinfected with alcohols, quaternary ammonium compounds, or halide-based disinfectants. Intermediate disinfectants have also been added as a category for the disinfection of semi-critical instruments that have contact with areas of the body such as non-intact skin or mucosal tissues (72, 83). Disinfectants can further be classified functionally as bactericidal, tuberculocidal, fungicidal, virucidal and sporicidal, to more clearly indicate the types of organisms they can kill. Organized in Table 1 are the various classifications for instruments and the levels of disinfection required for each class, as described by Spaulding and updated by the CDC.

Table 1: A simple representation of the Spaulding Classification. Information taken from: http://www3.gehealthcare.com/en/Products/Categories/Ultrasound/~/media/Images/Product/ Product-Categories/Ultrasound/probe\_care\_chart.gif

Classification	Definition	Level of Disinfection Required	Test Organism
Critical	Device enters otherwise sterile tissue	Sterilization	Endospores
Semi-Critical	Device contacts mucous membranes or may come in contact with unhealthy or non- intact tissue	High	Mycobacteria
Non-critical	Device contacts intact skin	Intermediate	Small Non-enveloped viruses
Non-critical	Device contacts intact skin	Low	fungi, yeasts, enveloped viruses, vegetative bacteria

#### Disinfectant Testing

In 1881, Robert Koch published a forty-eight page study entitled "On Disinfection" which was one of the first real comprehensive studies on the ability of chemical disinfectants to destroy bacterial endospores (85, 86). A few years later in 1897, Kronig and Paul published a study in which they observed that bacteria are not all disinfected similarly, and kill rates depended heavily on factors such as contact time, concentration of the disinfectant, and

temperature of the reaction. They were also the first to use a survivors per plate count method to determine a disinfectant's biocidal activity (87). In 1903 Rideal and Walker introduced phenol as a standard for comparison of disinfectants, and standardized methods such as growth conditions, media and specific bacteria for use in disinfectant testing. This would lay the foundation for the standardized methods for testing chemical disinfectants used today (86, 88). Virucidal testing would come much later with the development of cell culture methods.

Currently there are several standardized methods available to test the efficacy of disinfectants in different scenarios and against different types of organisms (86). AOAC International and the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) have published many of these methods, several of which are employed by government agencies for validating the label claims of commercial disinfectants.

There are three general kinds of disinfection tests: suspension, carrier and in-use or field tests. Suspension tests are useful for determining the potency of a disinfectant against the organism of interest while suspended in a solution such as physiological saline. At predetermined contact times, aliquots of a disinfect/organism suspension are removed and sub-cultured for survivor counts. The conditions of the test can be manipulated in many ways for a variety of possible scenarios, such as the addition of protein to simulate a bioburden. These tests, however, are limited in their ability to accurately predict kill times in more realistic situations and as such, represent an ideal scenario for the disinfectant. They are often used as preliminary tests (63). The ASTM method E231-03 is an example of this type of test (86).

Carrier tests employ the use of a small smooth surfaced object that is inoculated with the test organism and dried, in an attempt to better simulate disinfection of a contaminated hard surface. The carrier is then treated with disinfectant for predetermined contact times. The

disinfectant on the carrier is then neutralized either by dilution or by a neutralizing solution, after which it is placed in recovery medium and incubated for several days. Positive cultures indicate the failure of the disinfectant to kill all of the intended organisms. Although they better simulate disinfection in real-life scenarios, carrier tests are prone to inconsistency, due to a number of factors including carrier condition, organism preparation, neutralizing method, etc. (86, 89). This topic will be discussed further later.

In-use tests are usually an extension of, or are used to validate the results of the two previous types of tests. These types of tests are usually the application of the disinfectant being tested in a real-life setting. In-use tests involve disinfecting a test instrument using the protocol designed for it, then washing or swabbing for viable survivors. Generally, these tests aim for complete kill after the required contact time (86).

#### Approval of Chemicals used in the Reprocessing of Medical Instruments

The United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is the regulating body for claims involving liquid chemical sterilants used on reusable medical instruments (84). The regimen of tests required to qualify an agent as a liquid sterilant is quite rigorous and expensive. The manufacturer must provide documentation of testing for potency of the proposed sterilant using AOAC Official Test Methods 966.04 (sporicidal carrier test), 965.12 (tuberculocidal carrier test), 6.2.01:1995 (Salmonellicidal, Staphylococcocidal and Pseudomonacidal), 964.02, and the EPA approved virucidal test DIS/TSS-7. In addition to these tests, the manufacturer must provide evidence of a simulated-use test proving that a Sterility Assurance Level (SAL) of 6 can be achieved by the disinfectant. The SAL refers to the time require to kill a certain quantity of organisms, in this case 6 logarithms or 10<sup>6</sup> spores. The FDA requires the use of *Bacillus subtilis* 

spores for this test. Finally the manufacture must provide confirmatory results to the simulateduse test with an in-use test (84).

#### AOAC Sporicidal Test Method

For liquid chemical sterilization and sporicidal disinfection in clinical settings not associated with the use of medical instruments, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is the regulating body. They recommend the use of AOAC method 966.04 for testing disinfectant efficacy and require the use of two kinds of carriers with spore concentrations of  $\sim 10^6$  CFU per carrier.

AOAC Method 966.04 is a carrier style test intended for liquid and gaseous chemical disinfectants. It employs the use of spores from *Bacillus subtilis* and *Clostridium sporogenes*, which are dried onto either porcelain penicylinders or silk suture loop carriers. These are then submersed in the test disinfectant for the recommended contact time. The carrier is then removed from the disinfectant and added to nutritive broth which is incubated for 21 days. If no growth is observed, the tubes are heat shocked and incubated for an additional 72 hours. If no growth is observed after these incubations, the culture is reported as negative. In order to be considered sporicidal, a disinfectant must effect at least 59 of 60 replicates as negative. In order to be considered a sterilant, no cultures can test positive after the given incubation period (90). For disinfection claims against *Clostridium difficile* spores, manufactures must test *C. difficile* spores on carriers as well (84).

#### ASTM Virucidal Test Method

In general, virucial testing is used to indicate intermediate level disinfection, although this is not a hard and fast rule. For example, poliovirus and some other small naked viruses are not readily inactivated by isopropyl alcohol, which is often considered an intermediate level disinfectant and easily kills most vegetative bacteria (73). Virucidal testing requires  $>10^4$  viable virus particles per carrier with an effective exposure time less than or equal to 10 minutes. The EPA recommends ASTM 1053-11 for validating virucidal efficacy claims for disinfectants, as well as testing with the intended target virus to be listed on the label of the disinfectant (63, 91, 92).

ASTM Method E1053-11 is also a carrier style test intended for testing liquid or aerosolized disinfectants. This method involves drying virus as a film onto a carrier, then incubating with the test disinfectant. At the appropriate contact time the virus is diluted in buffer or neutralizing buffer and then assayed for infectivity in appropriate cell cultures. This method recommends that at least one non-enveloped virus in addition to the virus of interest is tested to demonstrate broad virucidal activity. Non-enveloped viruses are typically used for this method since they exhibit greater resistance to destruction than enveloped viruses. This test is also more difficult to perform than most sporicidal or bactericidal tests since the use of cell culture is required to count surviving viruses.

#### Test Method Associated Discrepancies in Disinfection Data

As described above, the FDA specifies a number of AOAC and ASTM methods for the validation of disinfectant claims. In the last 40 years, there have been numerous reports of inconsistencies in the accuracy and reproducibility of these test methods, especially amongst carrier tests (93-99). Many of the discrepancies studied have been found to be a result of the factors associated with the test method; i.e. carrier washing methods, recovery media, neutralization methods, and so forth. In 1990, Cole *et al.* showed that the neutralizing solution in the approved AOAC method for testing tuberculoicdal activity was bacteriostatic, and therefore made results from that test unreliable (93). The AOAC sporicidal test used to validate liquid

sterilant and high level disinfectant claims has also been criticized as being inaccurate and having inconsistent results, due to test method factors (100-105). In 1995, Miner showed that homogenization and filtration of the spore suspension by various methods not specified in the test, affected the ability of glutaraldehyde to effectively disinfect spores, resulting in false positives. They also evaluated the effect of carrier history on the generation of randomly positive carriers, and showed that newer carriers tended to have more false positives as a result of cracks and pits that could protect spores from GTA disinfection (89, 105). Loyd-Evans showed in 1986 that recovery of viruses from carriers depended on the carrier type and porosity, which lead to variable results in the determination of viral infectivity after disinfectants were tested (106).

## Organism Associated Discrepancies

Even when tests methods are refined and strictly controlled, there can still be a significant difference in disinfection results from lab to lab. Poliovirus is known to be susceptible to glutaraldehyde. However, strain related differences in disinfection susceptibility have been observed between reference strains and wild strains of poliovirus, with some of the clinical isolates proving to be more resistant than the type strains. The authors suggested that the differences in kill times for these viruses was likely due to slightly different capsid amino acid sequences. (107). Previously our lab tested the efficacy of chlorine, a quaternary ammonium compound and glutaraldehyde against 5 *Mycobacterium bovis* isolates provided by certified disinfection testing laboratories, using the EPA approved tubreculocidal method, and found there were significantly different kill times as well as phenol resistances between the isolates (108). It is reasonable to conclude as well that high titer bacterial and even viral suspensions contain enough organisms that subpopulations begin to arise that may change the kinetics of how the suspension will disinfect.

Generally the use of surrogates for target organisms is accepted if the organism of interest is difficult to culture or dangerous to work with. There are numerous criterion that may be used to select surrogate test organisms (86, 109, 110). Table 2 show a small list of target organisms and their surrogates, as well as some of the reasons for choice of the surrogate.

Table 2: Examples of Surrogates from: Criteria for Selection of Surrogates Used To Study the Fate and Control of Pathogens in the Environment (110)

Case	Target	Practical	Biological	Surrogate
Fomite survival of anthrax	B. anthracis	safety, cost	morphology, genetic relationship	B. thruingensis, B. subtilis, B. atrophaeus
Water purification	coliforms	common in environment	similarity	Kelbsiella terringena, E. coli
	viruses	common in environment	Morphological similarity, resistance	Poliovirus, Rotavirus
	cyst forms	common in environment	resistance, functional morphology	Cryptosporidium parvum
Disinfection-medical	M. tuberculosis viruses	safety, cost, cultivation	morphology, genetic relationship cultivation	<i>M. bovis</i> BCG poliovirus
Sterilization-food	spoilage organisms	safety, cost	resistance, cultivation	Geobacillus stearothermophilus
Sterilization-medical	Clostridia spp.	safety, cost	Genetic relationship, morphology, resistance	C. sporogenes, B. subtilis

The use of surrogate organisms to predict resistance of other organisms is another source of concern associated with these tests (82, 104, 111-113). For over 50 years, *B. atrophaeus* and *B. subtilis* have been used as surrogates in testing decontamination procedures for *B. anthracis* (86, 113). However, our lab previously showed that *B. subtilis* is almost 50 times more resistant to disinfection by CIDEX<sup>TM</sup> (2.3% alkaline glutaraldehyde) than *B. anthracis* (104). This and other studies have led to the presumption that *B. subtilis* is the most resistant of the spore forming organisms to disinfectants. However, in this same study, we also showed that when tested against SteriPlex<sup>TM</sup> (0.2% peracetic acid), *B. anthracis* was 4 times more resistant than *B*.

*subtilis* (104). Recently our lab has shown that HPV-16, a naked virus that causes genitorectal cancers, is completely resistant to glutaraldehyde and other common clinical disinfectants. Glutaraldehyde is a common liquid sterilant used to sterilize flexible endoscopes. This is the first report of a naked virus being completely resistant to glutaraldehyde (82). From these evidences, it is plain that the use of surrogates to produce reliable generalized disinfection data, though convenient and in some cases effective, should be done with caution and the data acquired should be used to create clinical disinfection protocols with a reasonable degree of skepticism.

#### Glutaraldehyde

#### Structures in Solution

Glutaraldehyde (GTA) is a 5 carbon dialdehyde (1,5-pentanedial) commonly used as a cross-linking agent. There have been several studies published on the predominant structure of GTA in commercial and reagent grade solutions. GTA solutions typically have varying amounts of intermediates and polymer sizes depending on pH, temperature, and concentration which can affect its reactivity as a biocide and cross-linker (114-117). GTA can be found as a monomer, dimer, trimer, polymer, cyclic hemiacetal, acetal-like polymer, and as a mono or dehydrate (116, 118). In acidic solutions, GTA is known to be in equilibrium between cyclic hemiacetals and polymerized hemiacetals (119, 120). As the pH and temperature are increased GTA will begin to undergo an aldol reaction and subsequent dehydration resulting in an  $\alpha$ - $\beta$  unsaturated polymer that will continue to grow until the length of the polymer causes it to precipitate (120, 121). Because of these myriad structures, the reactivity of GTA with other molecules can be difficult to predict. It is also relatively difficult to manufacture GTA solutions containing high amounts of free aldehyde. Figure 3 shows a number of the GTA structures that can be found in solution.



Figure 3: A representation of the many forms of aqueous glutaraldehyde and changes induced by increasing pH (116).

#### Chemistry and Reaction with Various Biomolecules

GTA exhibits aldehyde chemistry at both ends with a variety of nucleophiles such as deprotonated amines. In this particular reaction, a primary amine will attack the carbonyl carbon of the aldehyde group in nucleophilic addition to form a carbinolamine. This will dehydrate to form an imine, the final product of the reaction (122). Figure 4 shows the general reaction of an aldehyde and an amine and the end product.

Figure 4: Reaction of glutaraldehyde with a primary amine

GTA was first employed as a tissue fixative for electron microscopy in 1963 and has since found numerus uses including chemical disinfection and leather tanning (123). GTA's reactivity with side chains of amino acids and proteins under various conditions has been studied in depth. The reactivity of GTA with glycine, serine and proline peaks at around pH 6-7 while its reactivity with lysine and arginine keeps increasing with pH (122, 124-126). Generally, aldehydes, including GTA, react with amines to produce imines via nucleophilic substitution. In addition to primary amines, GTA has also been shown to have limited ability to interact with several other functional groups on proteins, such as secondary amines, thiol, phenol, imidazole, guanidyl and hydroxyl groups (116, 127, 128). Of all these groups, previous studies suggest that the ε-amine group on lysine is most likely the main functional group involved in protein crosslinking (116, 129). Woodroof proposed that GTA protein crosslinking is carried out through the reaction of free aldehyde with lysine residues on the same protein or between proteins to form a pyridinium salt similar to desmosine (130). Another study showed that GTA reacts with the ε-amino groups on diaminopimelic acid, a carboxylated derivative of lysine, in *B. subtilis* peptidoglycan (131). The interaction of GTA with other vital biomolecules such as carbohydrates, lipids and nucleic acids, has not received much attention (132, 133). Studies in cell models showed that GTA would preferentially bind to nuclear protein and histones before DNA. Nucleic acid crosslinking was also shown to be temperature dependent (134). Limited RNA fixation has also been documented in poliovirus, though it is still not thought to be as likely a candidate for GTA reactivity (75). There are lipids that contain primary amine groups that could react with GTA such as phosphytidylserine and phosphotidylethanolamine, though again, there is little data to support that it plays any major role in GTA's ability to kill microbes (116, 127).

#### Sporicidal Activity

GTA's sporicidal activity is likely one of its most important and useful properties. It is the most effective sporicidal aldehyde known, killing spores effectively at a ~2% concentration (114, 135, 136). Studies have shown GTA to be able to kill 10<sup>6</sup> spores from both *Bacillus* and *Clostridium* species in under 3 hours, with *B. subtilis* spores proving to be one of most resistant. Spores from *B. anthracis* and *C. difficile* are typically killed in under 10 minutes (115, 137, 138). Although there are more powerful sporicidal compounds than GTA, it has some significant advantages to other chemical disinfectants. GTA is non-corrosive and has low toxicity, and retains its sporicidal activity in the presence of considerable organic matter (127, 139). Under acidic conditions, GTA can be stored almost indefinitely, until an alkalinizing agent is added for better sporicidal action (121, 140). Currently it is thought that GTA kills bacterial endospores by crosslinking proteins important in germination of the spore, though the exact location GTA acts is not well known. Crosslinking of vital proteins could inactivate spores by making them unable to transmit environmental signals favorable to spore germination. Studies have also documented that GTA does not kill by fixing DNA (23, 132, 141).

#### Virucidal Activity

GTA is an effective virucide. In the original article describing GTA's biocidal activity, GTA was tested against an array of viruses including Poliovirus-1 and 2, Coxsackie virus, Influenza A-2 and Herpes Simplex, all of which were inactivated in less than 10 minutes (140).

Later studies showed enveloped viruses to be more susceptible to GTA than non-enveloped viruses (69). As was noted earlier, HPV-16 is the only known organism that is completely resistant to GTA disinfection.

#### Effect of Concentration

GTA has been tested at various concentrations in an effort to determine the optimal concertation for efficient sporicidal action. At concentrations of 1 and 2%, GTA has been shown to be more effective than a 4% formaldehyde solution. Lower concentrations (0.1%) are shown to be sporostatic. Currently commercial GTA disinfectants are sold as a 2.3% solution in alkaline or acid (115, 138, 140, 142).

#### *Effect of Temperature*

As a crosslinker, GTAs reactivity increases and decrease with temperature (114, 119, 143). Studies have also shown that at room temperature, GTA acts effectively as a sporicide and high level disinfectant, and its sporicidal activity increases with temperature (120, 144).

#### Effect of pH

After concentration, GTA solution pH seems to be the most significant factor in the sporicidal activity of GTA. Studies have repeatedly documented the effect of pH on the biocidal activity of GTA (137, 145, 146). Although acid GTA has been shown to be much more stable than alkaline GTA, it also exhibits slower sporicidal activity than basic solutions (142). As a result, many commercial GTA solutions use 0.3% sodium bicarbonate as an activator and buffer. As was described earlier, the addition of alkalinizing agents allows GTA to self-polymerize more rapidly, leading to a loss of free aldehyde necessary for crosslinking (147). Ultimately, while GTA kills spores faster at alkaline pH, it also losses its sporicidal activity with time on the order of days and weeks. One suggested reason for acid GTA's weaker sporicidal action is the loss of

deprotonated primary amines as a result of the acidic environment. Acid GTA is also thought to not be able to penetrate as deep into spores as alkaline GTA (137).

#### *Effect of Sodium Bicarbonate*

Some studies have suggested that sodium bicarbonate, in addition to being an alkalinizing agent, also acts on endospore coats by some not well understood mechanism(s) to make them more penetrable to GTA. The pH of the solution alone does not fully explain alkaline GTA's increased sporicidal activity. Power showed that the addition of NaOH as an alkalization agent does not improve GTA's activity to the same degree as bicarbonate (114, 137). Sodium bicarbonate is hypothesized to disrupt spore coats in such a way as to make them more permeable to GTA. The ability of GTA to penetrate deeper into endospores allows it to act on targets that may be more sensitive than the spore coat, such as the cortex or possibly even the core where proteins vital to germination are located. Gorman et al. showed using electron microscopy that when adding bicarbonate to spore suspensions, the spore coats from B. subtilis are less tightly associated with the spore, and show areas of decreased density when compared to non-treated spores (137). Cheung suggested that sodium bicarbonate may interact with the carbonyl groups on acidic amino acid residues in protein. This was thought to alter spore coat structure negatively, and may possibly explain the observations of Gorman. The same study showed that 0.3% sodium bicarbonate was able to inhibit spore germination (137, 148).

#### Clinical Use

GTA is still one of the most widely used liquid sterilants for reusable medical instruments such as endoscopes, bronchoscopes, etc (149). It is recommended that endoscopy clinics soak instruments in GTA for at least 10 minutes for normal patients with an increase to 20 minutes for patients with known HIV and pulmonary TB infections (118). It has also been recommended for

use in disinfecting dental equipment, cystoscopes, food containers, hemostats and anesthetic equipment (150-152). CIDEX<sup>TM</sup> is a commonly used commercially available alkaline GTA solution. The manufacturer recommends a 45-minute soak time for high level disinfection and a 10-hour soak time for sterilization, for the processing of semi-critical and critical medical instruments, respectively. CIDEX<sup>TM</sup> is recommended for use up to 14 days after activation.

#### Amine Reactive Probes

#### Structure and Properties

Molecular Probes<sup>™</sup> has created a wide variety of amine reactive probes for use in flow cytometry and other fluorescent applications. These probes can be separated into three separate categories: activated esters, isothiocyanate esters, and sulfonyl chlorides. This section will focus mostly on the activated esters which includes N-hydroxysuccinimide esters and tetrafluorophenyl esters. These esters generally react with primary amines to form a stable carboxyamine in a pHdependent reaction. Generally a pH of around 8.3 is required for good bioconjugation. Although bioconjugation with these functional groups can increase with pH, these esters also can hydrolyze in aqueous solution to form non-reactive carboxylic acids in a reaction that increases with pH. These probes show little reactivity with other functional groups associated with proteins, even with other amino acids containing amines on their side chains. They have been shown to be almost unreactive with other amine containing amino acids such as glutamine, asparagine, narginine, and histidine, as well as with amines on adenosine and guanosine bases (153).

#### N-hydroxysuccinimide and Tetrafluorophenyl Esters

N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) esters are used commonly in bioconjugation of molecular probes to proteins via acylation of  $\varepsilon$ -amino group on lysine residues as stated above. In addition to the reactivity listed above, NHS –esters have also been shown to have very low reactivity with hydroxyl functional groups found on amino acid side chains, and this only occurs when the probe is added in significant excess and with much longer reaction times than those typically used for bioconjugation. NHS-esters are also susceptible to hydrolysis in aqueous solution, though this side reaction is observed to be slow at a pH less than 9. The 2,4,5,6-Tetrafluorophenyl (TFP) esters have similar properties and reactivates to the NHS ester probes, but are less resistant to spontaneous hydrolysis than the NHS ester group (153-155).

### Alexa Fluor<sup>TM</sup> Amine Reactive Dyes

Since the discovery of green fluorescent protein in the 1960's, the use of fluorophores in science, especially in biology, has become extremely popular. Fluorophores are particularly useful in biology due their ability to be selectively excited and give good contrast in samples being studied. The Alexa Fluor<sup>TM</sup> dyes are a series of fluorophores developed by Molecular Probes Inc. They were designed to have high fluorescent yields and high photostability. They are currently sold as a wide variety of bioconjugates and commonly employed in immunology to stain cells using antibody conjugates of the dye, but they can be attached to other biomolecules as well (156-158). The Alexa Fluor 488 TFP-ester is a fluorescein derivative with an excitation maximum at 488 nm and an emission maximum at 525 nm (153). The Alexa Fluor NHS/TFP dyes have been used to label surface protein on various organisms. (159-161). In 2008, Boyana *et al.* labeled *Bacillus anthracis* spores using the Alexa Fluor 488 NHS-ester dye to visualize spores that had been phagocytosed by macrophages (161). In 2010, Zhang *et al.* described a
method for labeling live Dengue virus using a similar fluorescent dye for use in infectivity assays (159, 160). Figure 5 shows the structures of the Alexa Fluor dyes used in this study.



Figure 5: Structure of the Alexa Fluor dyes used in this study.

# Taken from:

http://www.thermofisher.com/content/dam/LifeTech/Documents/chemstructures/images/36236.j pg, http://www.lumiprobe.com/img/p/structure/sulfo-cy5-nhs-ester.gi

# NHS Activated Gold Nanoparticles

Gold has had useful scientific, as well as obvious practical value since the early years of the scientific method. Gold is a Nobel Metal and as such, has several desirable properties such as being inert under standard conditions, resistant to oxidation and is non-toxic. Typically, gold colloids are produced synthetically by growing crystals from gold ions, although there has been a fair amount of research into the use of microorganisms to produce gold nanoparticles (162). The use of gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) has been gaining traction in the field of biology, as a result of the above characteristics, as well as the improved ability to functionalize AuNPs for bioconjugation, for example with NHS groups. AuNPs have also been used for years in electron microscopy as size indicators, as well as catalysts. Current research is being done to improve the use of AuNPs in immuno-sensing using AuNP-conjugated antibodies (163, 164). Bioconjugation of proteins with AuNPs for visualization in electron microscopy is one of the most common uses of gold colloids in biology. Although there have been a number of studies published on the immune-sensing and protein conjugation properties of AuNP conjugates, not much has been done in the way of labeling organisms using the non-specific binding of NHS-activated AuNPs. One study did investigate the use of AuNP-conjugated adenovirus to carry AuNPs to tumor cells for photothermal cancer therapy (165). Figure 6 shows a representation of the linkage between a gold colloid (yellow-orange) and its NHS functional group via a polyethyleneglycol (PEG) linker arm.



Figure 6: Representation of NHS Gold nanoparticle with PEG linker.

Taken from: http://www.cytodiagnostics.com/store/pc/catalog/NHS-Activated-Gold-Nanoparticles-Category.jpg

#### Current Study

It is apparent that the current methods used for testing disinfectants for use in clinical settings are not entirely reliable for determining an organism's resistance to a given disinfectant in real life scenarios. This comes in part as a result of a lack of reliable testing methods, and only a simple understanding of the damaging mechanism(s) of many chemical disinfectants. This, combined with the physiological variability seen among various organisms and their approved surrogates, makes predicting and extrapolating disinfection trends a difficult task. In addition, it is known that the testing and approval methods for registering disinfectants with their various label claims, are time consuming, laborious and expensive. The ability to quickly and efficiently predict kill times for various organism/disinfectant combinations would be invaluable.

Our recently published HPV-16 and HPV-18 disinfection data also demonstrates the need for alternative methods to predict disinfection susceptibility, especially for those organisms that are difficult to culture or are untestable due to logistical constraints.

The goal of this study is to investigate the relationship between endospore and nonenveloped virus resistance to GTA and the prevalence of available primary amines on the surface of these organisms. Since GTA has been shown to preferentially react with lysine residues on exposed proteins, it may be possible to quantify the relative amount of amines available to GTA using amine-reactive dyes and labels. These could be quantified on bacterial endospores, using mean fluorescence generated by the amine-reactive Alexa Fluor 488 TFP ester dye, and on viruses by quantifying binding of small, activated NHS-Gold nanoparticles.

To do this, we first studied the labeling profiles of various bacterial spores, and compared them to their corresponding 6-log reduction times when treated with GTA.

29

Similar experimentation was performed with non-enveloped viruses. Two small, nonenveloped viruses were used in these studies: poliovirus, known to be inactivated by GTA, and HPV, known to be resistant to GTA. Viruses were stained with 5 nm AuNPs and visualized with electron microscopy. The number of AuNPs attached to capsid proteins was evaluated for each virus. This was then compared to the known GTA susceptibilities of these viruses.

In addition to fluorescent labeling, electron microscopy was also performed on endospores to investigate the possible correlation between spore coat thickness and other factors with GTA kill times.

## Materials and Methods

### Bacterial Strains and Spores Production

*Bacillus anthracis* Stern 1043, *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 19659, *Bacillus atrophaeus* ATCC 51189, and *Bacillus pumilus* ATCC 7061 were maintained on Columbia (BD Diagnostic Systems) medium and grown at 37 °C. Spore suspensions were prepared using the method of Leighton and Doi (18). Spore stock solutions were quantified by serial dilutions and viable plating. Stocks typically yielded between  $1x10^8 - 1x10^9$  CFU/ml. Suspensions were stored at 4 °C until use. *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* ATCC 12980 was maintained on Columbia medium at 55 °C. Spore suspensions were created by growing lawns of *G. stearothermophilus* on nutrient agar supplemented with Mg<sup>+2</sup>, Mn<sup>+2</sup>, Ca<sup>+2</sup>, K<sup>+</sup> and Fe<sup>+2</sup> ions at 55 °C for 8 - 10 days, until spores made up greater than 90% of the culture (19). Spores were then harvested by adding cold PSS + 0.01% Tween 80 to plates, scraping off the spores, and centrifuging at 4000 x g for 15 minutes. Washing by centrifugation was repeated 5 times and suspensions were checked for purity before storage at 4 °C until use.

## Viruses and Viral Growth

Poliovirus-1 Mahoney strain (PV-1) kindly provided by Dr. Dale Barnard, Utah State University, was grown, purified, and titered as previously described (166). Human Papilloma Virus 18 (HPV-18) was kindly provided by Dr. Craig Meyers at Pennsylvania State University and was stored at -80 °C until use in labeling studies.

## Spore Labeling and Flow Cytometry

Spores were labeled according to a modified protocol from Boyana *et al.* Suspensions were adjusted to  $1 \times 10^7$  CFU/ml, then diluted 1:10 in PSS + 0.01% Tween 80 and 0.1 M sodium bicarbonate, pH 8.3 (wash buffer) to give approximately  $10^6$  CFU/ml. Desiccated Alexa Fluor<sup>TM</sup>

488 TFP-ester (AF488) dye was re-suspended in sterile DMSO to give a final concentration of  $1\mu g/\mu l$ . Fifteen  $\mu l$  of dye was added to each of the spore suspensions, which were incubated in the dark for at least 2 hours at room temperature. Unbound dye was removed by centrifuging at 14,000 x g for 30 minutes, and washing the suspensions three times in 1 ml of wash buffer. Prepared samples were kept at room temperature in the dark until use in a Blue/Red Applied Biosystems Attune Flow Cytometer (14). Since spore preparations were all greater than 90%, bright phase spore gates were made around populations that showed relatively high side scatter and low forward scatter, suggestive of spore complexity and size respectively, to reduce noise from other particulates and contaminants. Unstained spores were used as standards for gating stained spore populations. Runs were done in triplicate, and each experiment was performed six times. Raw data was processed using FlowJo<sup>TM</sup> where fluorescent means were obtained by gating on spores, then sub-gating peaks to exclude extreme outliers and unstained spores. *Suspension Tests* 

All spore suspensions were tested against GTA using the ASTM Standard Guide for Assessment of Antimicrobial Activity using a Time-Kill Procedure, designated E2315-03. Onehundred µl of a 10° CFU/ml spore suspension was added to 9.9 ml of GTA and incubated at 20 °C for predetermined contact times. At the given contact time, 1 ml of this GTA-spore suspension was added to 9 mL of 1% glycine for at least 5 minutes, before serially diluting the suspension further to predetermined dilutions. One ml from these dilutions were then plated in triplicate onto Columbia agar using membrane filtration, and incubated at 37 °C (55 °C for *Geobacillus* spores). Colonies on each membrane were counted at 24 and 48 hours. The average number of survivors per plate were used to determine the Log<sub>10</sub> reduction in spores for each contact time. Tests were plated in triplicate and replicated three times using four contact times

32

per test. Time-Kill regression curves and 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction estimates were generated using Minitab<sup>TM</sup> from contact times and their associated Log<sub>10</sub> reductions.

### Glutaraldehyde

CIDEX<sup>TM</sup> (2.3 % alkaline glutaraldehyde) was purchased from Advanced Sterilization Products<sup>TM</sup> and was activated prior to use in disinfection tests.

# Fluorescent Quenching Assay

To test the ability of GTA to inhibit binding of AF488 to bacterial spores, stock spore suspensions were diluted to approximately  $10^7$  CFU/ml and 100 µl of this stock was added to 900 µl of GTA. Spores of *B. anthracis* were incubated for 5, 10, 15, and 30 minutes before 1ml of 6% glycine was added to neutralize the reaction. *B. subtilis* spores were incubated for 45, 90, 130 and 150 minute contact times. The spores were then washed 3 times at 14,000 rpm for 30 minutes and re-suspended in wash buffer to remove the glycine-GTA solution. Ten µg of AF488 was added to each tube and these suspensions were incubated at room temperature in the dark for at least 2 hours. Once staining was complete, the suspensions were washed 3 times as described above and analyzed by flow cytometry. Generated peaks were analyzed and mean fluorescence was recorded in triplicate. Each spore species was tested three times.

### Protection Assay

To test the ability of AF488 to block GTA sporicidal activity,  $10^7$  spores were stained with 100 µg of Alexa Fluor 647 NHS-ester (AF647) for 2 hours. AF647 was used in the place of AF488 (TFP-ester) for this experiment because of the presence of a primary amine on AF488 that could possibly react with GTA. The Alexa Fluor NHS-esters exhibited the exact same reactivity as the TFP-esters (167). After incubation at room temperature, the stained suspensions were washed three times as described above and re-suspended in 1 ml of wash buffer. These suspensions were then used in a modified version of the ASTM Time-Kill Suspension test. Instead of 100  $\mu$ l of this suspension, 1ml of stained spores were added to 9 ml of GTA.

### Spore Coat Removal

Spore coats were removed as described earlier (137, 168). About 10<sup>8</sup> spores were suspended in de-coating solution (containing 8 M urea and 10% 1-mercaptoethanol) and incubated at 60 °C for 60 minutes. Spores were then washed three times at 10,000 x g with cold PSS and re-suspend in cold PSS with 0.01% Tween 80.

### Viral Labeling

Five nanometer NHS activated Gold Nanoparticles (AuNPs) were purchased from Cytodiagnostics and used to stain  $10^7$ - $10^8$  PFU of either PV-1 or HPV-18, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, each virus was purified through a sucrose gradient and resuspended in protein resuspension buffer (Cytodiagnostics). Sixty ul of virus in buffer was then added to 48 ul of reaction buffer (Cytodiagnostics) and the mixture was added to a vial containing 0.1 mg of lyophilized AuNPs. This mixture was then shaken to homogenize and incubated at 22 °C for 2 hours. Ten µl of quencher solution (Cytodiagnostics) was added, then the reaction mixture was diluted in 3.9 ml of PBS (pH 7.3). The mixture was then placed in an Amicon® Ultra-4 MWCO 100K ultrafiltration membrane tube and spun at ~3000 x g for 3 minutes, or until only 250 µl of solution remained on top of the filter. About 3.75 ml of PBS was added to each tube and the flow through solution was discarded. This was repeated 3 times to also exchange buffers. The last centrifugation was used to concentrate the virus with AuNPs to a total volume of 250 µl. These were then stored at 4 °C until preparation for electron microscopy.

## Electron Microcopy

Endospores were prepared for electron microscopy by fixing with 2% glutaraldehyde overnight. Spores were washed and then fixed with OsO4 for 3 hours. After fixation, spores were embedded in 2% LMP agar and dehydrated using an acetone series. Spore-agar pellets were then soaked in 50% acetone/50% resin of Spurr for 4 hours, two times, and then 100% resin overnight. Spore pellet-resin solutions were then cured overnight at 70 °C. Thin sections were cut to a gold color and stained with 2% uranyl acetate and lead citrate. Thin sections were then attached to copper grids with formvar-carbon supports and imaged in a FEI Helios Nanolab 600 by STEM.

After viruses had been labeled with AuNPs, 20 µl of labeled virus and 2% phosphotungstic acid (PTA) were placed on parafilm. A 300 mesh copper grid coated with 3 nm amorphous carbon (TedPella) was then floated on the labeled virus for 1 minute. Excess virus was wicked off the grid with filter paper, and the grid was then placed on the PTA for 1 minute. Excess stain was also wicked off the grid and girds were allowed to dry. Grids were then imaged with a Tenaci F30 or F20 by TEM.

## Blocking AuNP Binding PV-1 using GTA

Prior to labeling with AuNPs as descried earlier, PV-1 was incubated with 2% glutaraldehyde for 1 hour to test the ability of GTA to block AuNP binding. Preparations were then prepped for and viewed using electron microscopy as described above.

## Results

# Comparison of Kill Curves and 6-Log Reduction Times for Different Batches of Bacillus Spores

6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction times were estimated by generating kill curves of 5 *Bacillus* species against GTA using viable plating by membrane filtration. Each dilution was plated in triplicate and each test was repeated 3 times. Figure 7 shows a wide range of GTA kill times amongst the spores ranging from as short as 6 minutes to up to 2.5 hours. No significant difference was seen between the slopes of spore batches.



Figure 7: Comparison of Glutaraldehyde  $6-Log_{10}$  Reduction Estimates for 2 different batches of spores from 5 different species. Blue columns indicate estimates for spore batch 1, while the orange columns indicate estimates for spore batch 2. Each column represents the mean of 3 replications. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error.

### Saturation of Spores with AF488

To determine the amount of AF488 necessary to saturate all possible binding sites on spores,  $10^6$  CFU of *B. anthracis* and *B. subtilis* spores were incubated with 0.001, 0.01, 0.1, 1, 10, 20 and 50 µl of AF488 (1 µg /µl) for at least 2 hours. ANOVA with Tukey HSD was used to determine statistical difference between fluorescent means. Incubation for longer than 2 hours made no significant difference in mean fluorescence. Figure 8 shows the fluorescent peaks generated from this experiment. Increasing the amount of dye from 20 µg to 50 µg did not result in a significant increase in mean fluorescence for either spore type. However, increasing from 10 µg to 20 µg of dye in *B. anthracis* and *B. subtilis* did increase the mean fluorescence significantly. The same difference was not seen in *B. subtilis*. Overall, it was determined that greater than 10 µg of AF488 is required for complete saturation of binding sites on *B. anthracis* and *B. subtilis* spores.



Figure 8: Mean fluorescence (MFU) of *B. anthracis* and *B. subtilis* spores after staining with different concentrations of Alexa Fluor 488. Blue circles indicate MFU for spores from *B. anthracis*, while orange triangles indicate MFU for *B. subtilis*. Each symbol represents the mean of 3 replications. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error. Horizontal bar indicates means with no statistical difference at a 95% confidence level.

## **Bacillus Species Fluorescent Profiles**

Staining *Bacillus* spores with excess AF488 yielded peak shifts relative to controls. Mean fluorescence for each peak generated by a spore was calculated. Figure 9 shows the mean fluorescence for various spores from *Bacillus* species. *B. anthracis* displayed the most intense fluorescence while *B. subtilis* displayed the least. *G. stearothermophilus* and *B. atrophaeus* displayed fluorescent profiles similar to *B. subtilis*. Figure 9 shows a peak shift for stained spores relative to controls. Statistical analysis showed that the peaks for *B. anthracis* and *B. atrophaeus* had means that were not significantly different from each other.



Figure 9: Fluorescent profiles of *Bacillus* species spores. Each column indicates the mean fluorescence (MFU) generated from each spore from batch 1. Each bar represents the mean of 3 replications. Error bars represent  $\pm$  1 standard error. Horizontal bars indicate means that are not statistically different from each other at a 95% confidence level.

### Correlation Between Estimated 6-Log Kill Times and Mean Fluorescent Peaks

Mean fluorescent peaks data was compared with data from Time-Kill assays to investigate a possible correlation between GTA kill times and AF488 binding to reactive groups on spores. From Figure 10, it appears that as fluorescence decreases, kill time increases, although it is not necessarily a linear relationship. ( $R^2 = 0.6187$ )



Figure 10: Mean fluorescence vs. 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction time estimates. Fluorescent profiles were plotted against 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction estimates for *B. anthracis* (circle), *G. stearothermophilus* (square), *B. atrophaeus* (triangle), and *B. subtilis* (diamond). Each symbol represents the mean of 3 replications.  $R^2 = 0.6187$ 

# Inhibition of AF488 Binding by Treating Spores with GTA

The ability of GTA to block AF488 binding to spores was tested to determine the similarity of reactive sites between GTA and AF488. Figure 11 and Figure 12 show the mean fluorescence generated by spores from *B. anthracis* and *B. subtilis* after treatment with GTA for various contact times. Relative to the untreated control, there was a 1.19 log (~94%) drop in fluorescence for *B. anthracis* after a 5 minute treatment with GTA. Fluorescence did not decrease significantly as the final contact time was reached. The same trend was observed with *B. subtilis*. After the initial contact time, mean fluorescence did not significantly decrease beyond the 0.85 log (~86%) loss of fluorescence relative to unstained spore controls.



Figure 11: Reduction in fluorescence of *B. anthracis* spores when pretreated with GTA for 5 to 30 minutes prior to staining with AF488. Spores + AF488 were not pretreated with GTA. Spores + GTA were not subsequently stained with AF488. Unstained spores were included as a control. Horizontal bars indicate means that are not statistically different from each other at a 95% confidence level. Each bar represents the mean of 3 replications. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error.



Figure 12: Reduction in fluorescence of *B. subtilis* spores when pretreated with GTA for 45 to 90 minutes prior to staining with AF488. Spores + AF488 were not pretreated with GTA. Spores + GTA were not subsequently stained with AF488. Unstained spores were included as a control. Horizontal bars indicate columns that are not statistically different from each other at a 95% confidence level. Each bar represents the mean of 3 replications. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error.

# Blocking of GTA Sporicidal Activity Using AF647

The ability of AF647 to block the sporicidal activity of GTA was investigated to further understand the similarity of reactive functional groups used by GTA and AF647. The results are displayed in Figure 13 and Figure 14. No significant difference was observed in the slopes of the kill curves for either *B. anthracis* or *B. subtilis* labeled with any of the above reagents relative to unstained controls.



Figure 13:  $Log_{10}$  reduction plots for *B. anthracis* spores pretreated with AF647. Blue dots indicate spores not treated with AF647 prior to tests with GTA. Orange dots indicate spores treated with AF467 prior to testing. Each symbol represents the mean of 3 replications. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error.



Figure 14: Log<sub>10</sub> reduction plots for *B. subtilis* spores pretreated with AF647. Blue dots indicate spores not treated with AF647 prior to tests with GTA. Orange dots indicate spores treated with AF467 prior to testing. Each symbol represents the mean of 3 replications. Error bars represent  $\pm$  1 standard error.

# Effect of Removing Spore Coats

Since protection was not given to spores treated with AF647, we removed the spore coats from *B. subtilis* spores to investigate the ability of AF647 to bind to the spore cortex. The results are shown in Table 3. AF647 gave no protection to spores with their coats removed.

Table 3: Effect of AF647 Staining of De-coated B. subtilis spores on Susceptibility to GTA

Spore	Contact Time	Log <sub>10</sub> Reduction
B. subtilis	10 min	>4.5
B. subtilis + AF647	10 min	>4.5
B. anthracis	30 sec	>4.5
B. anthracis + AF647	30 sec	>4.5

# Spore Coat Thickness

Figure 15 shows comparisons of the thickness of spore coats from *Bacillus* spores. Coat thickness was measured at six points on 12 spores from thin section electron micrographs using ImageJ<sup>TM</sup> imaging software. Mean coat thickness was then compared using ANOVA with Tukey HSD. *B. anthracis* and *B. pumilus* have statistically thinner protein coats (p < 0.05) than the other tested spores, while *B. subtilis* has a thicker protein coat. *B. anthracis* also showed a much thinner coat than *B. pumilus* (p < 0.001). Statistically, the difference between coats of *B. atrophaeus*, *G stearothermophilus* and *B. subtilis* is insignificant (p > 0.05).



■ *B. anthracis* ■ *B. pumilus* ■ *B. atrophaeus* ■ *G. stearothermophilus* ■ *B. subtilis* 

Figure 15: Comparison of protein coat thinckness for spores from *B. anthracis* (blue), *B. pumilus*, (orange), *B. atrophaeus* (grey), *G. stearothermophilus* (yellow) and *B. subtilis* (green). Horizontal bars indicates means that are not significantly different at a 95% confidence level. Each bar represents the mean of 12 spores. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error.



Figure 16: Electron micrographs of the different types of spores used in this study. Refer to Figure 1 for a description of the different parts of a spore. Magnification is 65,000 - 150,000x

### Protein Coat Thickness Compared to 6-Log10 Reduction Estimates

When coat thickness was plotted against mean  $6-\text{Log}_{10}$  reduction kill times for their respective spores, a correlation could be seen. Figure 17 shows the relationship between spore coat thickness and the  $6-\text{Log}_{10}$  Reduction kill times for each spore type. Generally, as spore coat thickness increased, so did the associated time required to kill the spores, although the correlation between thickness and GTA resistance is only moderate. ( $R^2 = 0.662$ )



Figure 17: Spore protein coat thickness plotted against GTA 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction kill times for various spore species. Points on the plot indicate the average coat thickness and kill time for a given spore. Error bars represent  $\pm 1$  standard error. (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.662)

## Viral Staining with Gold Nanoparticles

Figure 18 shows electron micrographs of latex beads, PV-1, and HPV-18 before and after labeling with gold nanoparticles. Although PV-1 (Figure 18D) is not completely surrounded by AuNPs, it is associated with the AuNPs either in large clusters as seen above, or with a few nanoparticles closely associated with the virus. In the case of HPV-18 (Figure 18 F), no such association is seen. It is important to note that the NHS groups attached to the AuNPs are linked to the particles by a 5kd PEG linker arm. These linkers cause a halo effect around the particles about 5 nm in thickness. Therefore, particles within approximately 5 nm of a virus could still possibly be considered bound to the virus since the NHS functional groups are situated at the end of the PEG linker.

Figure 19 shows plot profiles for latex beads, PV-1, and HPV-18 before and after labeling with gold nanoparticles. The latex particles (B) and PV-1 bound numerous AuNPs, whereas HPV (F) bound none. Profiles were taken using ImageJ<sup>TM</sup> by selecting between 200-300 pixels in length and 20 pixels in width across a given particle.



Figure 18: AuNP labeling of latex particles, Polio-1 and HPV-18. Forty nm latex beads (A) labeled with AuNPs (B) were used as controls. C and D show PV-1 before (C) and after (D) labeling with AuNPs. E and F show HPV-18 before (E) and after (F) labeling with AuNPs. Black arrows indicate AuNPs. Magnification is 43,000 – 66,000x



Figure 19: Intensity plot profiles for 40 nm latex particles (A and B), PV-1 (C and D) and HPV-18 (E and F) before (A, C, E) and after (B, D, F) labeling with AuNPs. Grey Value refers to the average intensity of a set of pixels across the analyzed area represented by the yellow bar. The bottom axis is the distance in pixels of the analyzed area. Arrows indicate where AuNPs are located. Insets are the images from where the plot profiles were taken.

# Blocking AuNP Binding to PV-1 with GTA

Figure 20 shows both untreated and GTA-treated PV-1 stained with AuNPs. Treatment of PV-1 with GTA prevented labeling with AuNPs. Plot profiles confirm the absence of AuNPs on GTA-treated PV-1. This suggests that GTA treatment disrupts amine-reactive binding sites on the virus.



Figure 20: Pretreatment of PV-1with GTA blocks AuNP binding. A shows untreated PV-1 labeled with AuNPs. B shows PV-1 (center) that was pretreated with GTA for 1 hour prior to AuNP labeling. White arrows indicate AuNPs. C and D show plot profiles of 20 x 270 pixel sections across each inset as in Figure 19.

#### Discussion

A comparison of the 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction estimates for selected *Bacillus* spores confirms that not all spores share the same sensitivity to GTA (104, 112). A comparison of two batches of each spore also shows that kill times can differ slightly, though not significantly, between batches of spores from the same species created using identical methods, an observation that has also been seen in other types of organisms with GTA (108). In some cases, the type of disinfectant used can reverse trends in susceptibility (104).

In addition to the differences seen in susceptibility, the results in Figure 7 also suggest differentiation of spores into high (B. anthracis), intermediate (B. atrophaues, B. pumilus, and G. stearothermophilus) and low (B. subtilis) GTA susceptibility. It is has been well-established that there are vast differences in the kill times of B. anthracis and B. subtilis spores treated with GTA. Several other studies have shown, using various methods, that G. stearothermophilus, B. atrophaeus, and B. pumilus have similar kill times to those presented here, though this is the first time all 5 of these spores have been tested identically and in the same study (86, 115, 137). It should be mentioned that only *B. anthracis* is clinically relevant. Spores of *B. subtilis*, *B.* atrophaeus, B. pumilus and G stearothermophilus are all generally used as bio-indicators for sterilization processes (112, 113). Members of the *Clostridium* genus cause a number of diseases including Clostridium tetnai (tetanus), C. difficile (pseudomembranous colitis), C. botulinum (botulism poisoning) and C. pefringens (gas gangrene), but none were tested in this study. Results of such testing would provide an interesting addition to this data. Previously, GTA has been tested against all of these spores, though in general, there are fewer studies on disinfection of *Clostridium* spores than *Bacillus* spores (5, 138). This is likely because *Clostridium* species are much more difficult to culture, requiring anaerobic environments and producing low spore

yields (138, 169, 170). It would be interesting to see these same experiments performed on the more clinically relevant *Clostridium* spores, in an effort to better determine the effect of species on spore disinfection.

Figure 8 shows a titration of AF488 with *B. anthracis* and *B. subtilis* spores, as well as the difference in mean fluorescence for each spore type. The elevated mean fluorescence generated by *B. anthracis* spores would suggest that they contain more available primary amines, while B. subtilis likely has fewer. Since it is known that both GTA and AF488 bind to primary amines, it is likely that increased levels of fluorescence could generally indicate increased susceptibility to GTA (122, 124-126). The fluorescent profiles in Figure 9 support this idea, though only somewhat. Since the mean fluorescence of B. subtilis, B atrophaeus and G stearothermophilus spores were not statistically different from each other, it is likely that up to a certain threshold, it becomes difficult to predict GTA susceptibility for more resistant spores using fluorescent amine reactive probes. When mean fluorescence was plotted against 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction times, there did not seem to be a strict linear relationship between fluorescence and kill time, although there was a general trend that as fluorescence decreased, kill time increased. More work needs to be performed on spores with faster kill times (between 4 and 60 minutes) to determine what that threshold might be. Creating fluorescent profiles for spores from *Clostridium* species would also make an interesting addition to these results. Relatively little is known about *Clostridium* spore physiology and development. Given *Clostridium* spores develop under strict anaerobic conditions, it is conceivable that the structure and or physiology of the spore is significantly different from that of *Bacillus* species. This idea is supported by other studies comparing Clostridium spores to B. subtilis spores (171). In addition, spores from Bacillus and Clostridium have a number of genetic differences (5, 172).

Evaluating the ability of GTA to block AF488 binding yielded results that are consistent with what is known about AF488 and GTA's binding capabilities (122, 124-126, 153-155). GTA was able to block fluorescence from AF488 relative to a control, which suggests that AF488 binds to similar sites used by GTA. This trend was seen even more dramatically with the poliovirus AuNP labeling experiments discussed later. The residual fluorescence seen in Figure 11 and Figure 12, after different GTA contact times, may indicate fluorophore that was able to bind other functional groups such as secondary amines, thiols, phenols, imidazoles, guanidyl and hydroxyl groups, all of which are likely present on the surface of these spores (167, 173).

Interestingly, we did not see a similar outcome when attempting to block GTA's sporicidal action using Alexa Fluor<sup>TM</sup> 647 NHS-ester (AF647). AF647 was used in these experiments because AF488 contains a primary amine. These experiments, shown in Figure 13 and Figure 14, revealed that GTA could still kill spores pre-stained with fluorophore, with no associated increase in kill time. There are two possible reasons for this. GTA may have the ability to kill spores by unknown mechanisms that are not related to primary amine binding. This is unlikely, given the extensive research that has been done with GTA to determine its preferred binding sites (23, 116, 142, 174). GTA is also not known to bind DNA or lipids to any degree that might harm living organisms, let alone spores (33, 127, 132, 133). A more likely alternative is that GTA has more primary amines available to it than has the fluorophore. Although spore protein coats are dense, they are permeable to certain small molecules, and have been referred to as molecular sieves (15, 17, 29). It is conceivable that the spore coat is able to hinder the movement of the fluorophore (molecular weight = 1250 g/mol) past the outer protein layers, while GTA (molecular weight = 100.1 g/mol) is able to penetrate faster and deeper into the coat.

It is important to also note that Gorman suggested that a possible reason for alkaline GTA's improved sporicidal activity over acid GTA was due to the ability of the alkalinizing agent, sodium bicarbonate, to separate layers of the spore coat from each other, giving GTA more possible targets to bind. It is interesting to note that this separating effect was not observed when other alkalinizing agents were used (137). Penetration of GTA through empty protein coats of *B. subtilis* has also been observed (175).

When the spore protein coat of *B. subtilis* was removed, there was a marked increase in its susceptibility to GTA, though again, there was no protection afforded when coatless spores were stained with AF647 prior to treatment with GTA. This is likely because the peptidoglycan surrounding the spore's core can also act as a barrier to large molecular weight compounds, as it does for vegetative bacteria. Since GTA is known to be able to crosslink peptidoglycan, it is possible that penetration of GTA beyond the limits of the fluorophore would explain why pretreatment with AF647 affords no protection, similar to the observations made above with intact spores (131, 137). Increased susceptibility of de-coated spores to GTA has been observed previously (10, 11, 168). A repetition of this experiment with the removal of the cortex as well as the coat, may provide more information on the role these layers play in GTA susceptibility.

Protein coat thickness of the spores used in this study was measured by electron microscopy. In Figure 16, the differences in spore structure are readily visible. Averages of measurements taken revealed that *B. subtilis* had the thickest coat, while *B. anthracis* and *B. pumilus* had the thinnest. *G. stearothermophilus* and *B. atrophaeus* had coats about the same thickness. Although not statistically different from *B. atrophaeus* and *G. stearothermonphilus*, the small difference in thickness between these and *B. subtilis*, combined with coat composition differences (i.e., density or number of lysine residues), could account for *B. subtilis's* marked resistance to GTA. The results shown in Figure 17 suggest a correlation between spore coat thickness and 6-Log<sub>10</sub> reduction estimates for GTA. This agrees with several other studies that noted that *B. subtilis* has a much thicker coat than *B. anthracis*, and suggested that this could be a contributing factor in *B. subtilis*'s marked resistance not only to GTA, but many other disinfectants (10, 16, 18, 50, 176).

Viruses have a much simpler structure than bacterial spores. They are also much smaller and must be visualized using electron microscopy. Gold particles (AuNPs) which covalently bind to primary amines were used to visualize these functional groups on the surface of two viruses; one known to be susceptible to GTA inactivation (poliovirus, or PV-1) and one known to be resistant (human papillomavirus, or HPV). Although PV-1 was not surrounded by AuNPs in a manner similar to the latex bead controls (Figure 18), AuNP binding was still considerable. This was expected since there are likely far fewer primary amine sites on PV-1 than on these latex beads. Similar results were obtained when labeling adenoviruses with 1.4 nm covalently linked AuNPs (165). One study investigated the position of lysine groups on protein capsid secondary structures for various poliovirus-related enteroviruses. They found that the viruses most resistant to GTA had no lysine groups on secondary structures that were accessible on the surface of the virus (77). In addition, PV-1 was generally associated with at least 2-3, and often more AuNPs within 5nm of the virions, which is suggestive that AuNPs are in fact, bound to the viral capsid. Each AuNP has a 5 kd linker that connects each NHS functional group to its AuNP, giving the effect of an electron permissive "halo" sometimes visible around the AuNPs. According to technicians at Cytodiagnostics<sup>TM</sup>, so long as the particle is within 5 nm of the virus, it is generally considered bound (personal communication). Profile plots of PV-1 with associated AuNPs also suggest covalent binding of the particles to the virus (Figure 19). In

59

addition, Figure 20 revealed that when PV-1 was treated with GTA prior to labeling with AuNPs, no such association was observed, and these treated virions appeared similar to HPV-18. This suggests that GTA is reacting with the binding sites available on the PV-1 capsid surface. PV-1 has been shown to be susceptible to GTA disinfection, and exposed lysine residues have been implicated in its susceptibility, as well as the susceptibility of other non-enveloped viruses (74-76, 107, 135, 140). Since HPV-18 was not observed to be associated with AuNPs, it is reasonable to conclude that little to no AuNP binding occurred. These results are supported by our earlier data showing that HPV is not susceptible to GTA inactivation (82). Interestingly, HPV has been reported to have exposed lysine residues on its capsid surface that are thought to be important in cell entry, though these residues are located in a pocket that may be protected somehow from GTA binding. It is also possible that GTA binding simply has no effect on virus infectivity (177, 178). More research is needed to determine which of these possibilities is correct. Future experiments should endeavor to explore the ability of covalently linked AuNPs to block or reduce GTA inactivation of PV-1. Other clinically relevant non-enveloped viruses such as Hepatitis A, rotaviruses, rhinoviruses, and caliciviruses should be evaluated as well to see if the trend observed here is consistent with other virus types.

### Conclusions

Caution needs to be exercised when attempting to select an appropriate surrogate for disinfection testing and when creating decontamination protocols based on data obtained from surrogate organisms, as kill times can vary greatly between species and even between batches of the same species. The use of *B. subtilis* as a surrogate for *B. anthracis* still seems to be a good choice when using GTA as the disinfectant, in that *B. subtilis* spores are much more resistant. GTA kill for *Bacillus* species spores is likely influenced by a combination of spore protein coat thickness and composition. Amine reactive Alexa Fluor<sup>TM</sup> probes could be used as a screening method when testing novel spores for susceptibility to GTA, although caution should be exercised since there is not a linear relationship between fluorescence and kill times for *Bacillus* spores. The number of available primary amines on viral capsids seems to be related to the susceptibility of a virus to GTA. For non-enveloped viruses, amine reactive AuNPs could prove useful for screening novel or fastidious viruses for susceptibility to GTA. These kinds of rapid preliminary tests could provide valuable susceptibility information that would be useful in avoiding surrogate-subject discrepancies, as was seen in the failure of GTA to disinfect HPV.

# References

- 1. **McKenney PT, Driks A, Eichenberger P.** 2013. The *Bacillus subtilis* endospore: assembly and functions of the multilayered coat. Nature Reviews Microbiology **11**:33-44.
- 2. **Russell A.** 1982. The destruction of the bacterial spore. Academic Press, London.
- 3. **Piggot P, Coote J.** 1976. Genetic aspects of bacterial endospore formation. Bacteriological reviews **40**:908.
- 4. **Driks A.** 1999. *Bacillus subtilis* spore coat. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews **63**:1-20.
- 5. **Tomas CA, Welker NE, Papoutsakis ET.** 2003. Overexpression of groESL in Clostridium acetobutylicum results in increased solvent production and tolerance, prolonged metabolism, and changes in the cell's transcriptional program. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **69:**4951-4965.
- 6. **Charney J, Fisher WP, Hegarty CP.** 1951. Manganese as an essential element for sporulation in the genus Bacillus. Journal of bacteriology **62:**145.
- 7. **Buck CB, Pastrana DV, Lowy DR, Schiller JT.** 2005. Generation of HPV pseudovirions using transfection and their use in neutralization assays, p. 445-462. *In* Davy C, Doorbar J (ed.), Methods in Molecular Medicine, vol. 119.
- 8. **Piggot P.** 2002. Sporulation genes and inter-compartmental regulation. Bacillus subtilis and its Closest Relatives: from Genes to Cells.
- 9. **Tan IS, Ramamurthi KS.** 2014. Spore formation in *Bacillus subtilis*. Environmental microbiology reports **6:**212-225.
- 10. **Driks A.** 2002. Maximum shields: the assembly and function of the bacterial spore coat. Trends in microbiology **10:**251-254.
- 11. **Gould GW, Stubbs JM, King WL.** 1970. Structure and composition of resistant layers in bacterial spore coats. Microbiology **60**:347-355.
- 12. **Popham D.** 2002. Specialized peptidoglycan of the bacterial endospore: the inner wall of the lockbox. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS **59**:426-433.
- 13. Bauman RW. 2013. Microbiology with diseases by taxonomy. Pearson Higher Ed.
- 14. **Errington J.** 1993. *Bacillus subtilis* sporulation: regulation of gene expression and control of morphogenesis. Microbiological reviews **57:**1-33.
- 15. **Ozin AJ, Henriques AO, Yi H, Moran CP.** 2000. Morphogenetic proteins SpoVID and SafA form a complex during assembly of the *Bacillus subtilis* spore coat. Journal of bacteriology **12**:1828-1833.
- 16. **Moir A.** 1981. Germination properties of a spore coat-defective mutant of *Bacillus subtilis*. Journal of bacteriology **146:**1106-1116.
- 17. Aronson AI, Fitz-James P. 1976. Structure and morphogenesis of the bacterial spore coat. Bacteriological Reviews 40:360.
- 18. Jenkinson H, Sawyer W, Mandelstam J. 1981. Synthesis and order of assembly of spore coat proteins in *Bacillus subtilis*. Microbiology **123:**1-16.
- 19. Chesnokova ON, McPherson SA, Steichen CT, Turnbough CL. 2009. The sporespecific alanine racemase of *Bacillus anthracis* and its role in suppressing germination during spore development. Journal of bacteriology **191**:1303-1310.
- 20. Hullo M-F, Moszer I, Danchin A, Martin-Verstraete I. 2001. CotA of *Bacillus subtilis* is a copper-dependent laccase. Journal of Bacteriology **183**:5426-5430.
- Klobutcher LA, Ragkousi K, Setlow P. 2006. The *Bacillus subtilis* spore coat provides "eat resistance" during phagocytic predation by the protozoan Tetrahymena thermophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:165-170.
- 22. Laaberki M-H, Dworkin J. 2008. Role of spore coat proteins in the resistance of *Bacillus subtilis* spores to Caenorhabditis elegans predation. Journal of bacteriology 190:6197-6203.
- 23. **Tennen R, Setlow B, Davis K, Loshon C, Setlow P.** 2000. Mechanisms of killing of spores of *Bacillus subtilis* by iodine, glutaraldehyde and nitrous acid. Journal of Applied Microbiology **89:**330-338.
- 24. Cowan AE, Olivastro EM, Koppel DE, Loshon CA, Setlow B, Setlow P. 2004. Lipids in the inner membrane of dormant spores of Bacillus species are largely immobile. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101:7733-7738.
- 25. **Meador-Parton J, Popham DL.** 2000. Structural Analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* Spore Peptidoglycan during Sporulation. Journal of bacteriology **182**:4491-4499.
- 26. Warth AD, Strominger JL. 1969. Structure of the peptidoglycan of bacterial spores: occurrence of the lactam of muramic acid. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 64:528-535.
- 27. **Popham DL, Helin J, Costello CE, Setlow P.** 1996. Analysis of the peptidoglycan structure of *Bacillus subtilis* endospores. Journal of bacteriology **178**:6451-6458.
- 28. Warth AD, Strominger JL. 1972. Structure of the peptidoglycan from spores of *Bacillus subtilis*. Biochemistry **11**:1389-1396.
- 29. Gerhardt P, Scherrer R, Black SH. 1972. Molecular sieving by dormant spore structures. Spores V. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, DC:68-74.
- 30. **Cortezzo D, Koziol-Dube K, Setlow B, Setlow P.** 2004. Treatment with oxidizing agents damages the inner membrane of spores of *Bacillus subtilis* and sensitizes spores to subsequent stress. Journal of Applied Microbiology **97**:838-852.
- 31. Gerhardt P, Marquis R. 1989. Spore thermoresistance mechanisms.
- 32. Cortezzo D, Setlow P. 2005. Analysis of factors that influence the sensitivity of spores of *Bacillus subtilis* to DNA damaging chemicals. Journal of Applied Microbiology **98**:606-617.
- 33. Setlow P. 1995. Mechanisms for the prevention of damage to DNA in spores of Bacillus species. Annual Reviews in Microbiology **49:**29-54.
- 34. **Mohr SC, Sokolov N, He C, Setlow P.** 1991. Binding of small acid-soluble spore proteins from *Bacillus subtilis* changes the conformation of DNA from B to A. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **88**:77-81.
- 35. **Russell A.** 1991. Chemical sporicidal and sporostatic agents. Disinfection, sterilization and preservation. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger: 365-376.
- 36. **Oxborrow G, Berube R.** 1991. Sterility testing-validation of sterilization processes, and sporicide testing. Disinfection, sterilization, and preservation. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger:1047-1057.
- 37. **Sofos J, Pierson M, Blocher J, Busta F.** 1986. Mode of action of sorbic acid on bacterial cells and spores. International Journal of Food Microbiology **3:**1-17.

- Russell A, Jones BD, Milburn P. 1985. Reversal of the inhibition of bacterial spore germination and outgrowth by antibacterial agents. International journal of pharmaceutics 25:105-112.
- 39. **Moore SL, Payne DN.** 2004. Types of antimicrobial agents. Russell, Hugo & Ayliffe's Principles and practice of disinfection, preservation and sterilization:8-97.
- 40. **Turnbull P.** 1999. Definitive identification of *Bacillus anthracis*—a review. Journal of applied microbiology **87:**237-240.
- 41. Inglesby TV, O'Toole T, Henderson DA, Bartlett JG, Ascher MS, Eitzen E, Friedlander AM, Gerberding J, Hauer J, Hughes J. 2002. Anthrax as a biological weapon, 2002: updated recommendations for management. Jama 287:2236-2252.
- 42. Christopher LGW, Cieslak LTJ, Pavlin JA, Eitzen EM. 1997. Biological warfare: a historical perspective. Jama 278:412-417.
- 43. Matz LL, Beaman TC, Gerhardt P. 1970. Chemical composition of exosporium from spores of *Bacillus cereus*. Journal of bacteriology **101**:196-201.
- 44. **Gerhardt P, Pankratz HS, Scherrer R.** 1976. Fine structure of the *Bacillus thuringiensis* spore. Applied and environmental microbiology **32**:438-440.
- 45. Carrera M, Zandomeni R, Fitzgibbon J, Sagripanti JL. 2007. Difference between the spore sizes of *Bacillus anthracis* and other Bacillus species. Journal of Applied Microbiology 102:303-312.
- 46. **Piggot PJ, Hilbert DW.** 2004. Sporulation of *Bacillus subtilis*. Current opinion in microbiology **7:**579-586.
- 47. **Dubnau D.** 1991. Genetic competence in *Bacillus subtilis*. Microbiological reviews **55**:395-424.
- 48. Schallmey M, Singh A, Ward OP. 2004. Developments in the use of Bacillus species for industrial production. Canadian journal of microbiology **50**:1-17.
- 49. **Pandey N, Aronson A.** 1979. Properties of the *Bacillus subtilis* spore coat. Journal of bacteriology **137**:1208-1218.
- 50. Henriques AO, Moran J, Charles P. 2007. Structure, assembly, and function of the spore surface layers. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **61:**555-588.
- 51. Sousa J, Silva M, Balassa G. 1978, p 339-362. Annales de microbiologie.
- 52. Nicholson WL, Galeano B. 2003. UV resistance of *Bacillus anthracis* spores revisited: validation of *Bacillus subtilis* spores as UV surrogates for spores of *B. anthracis* Sterne. Applied and environmental microbiology **69**:1327-1330.
- 53. **Young S, Setlow P.** 2003. Mechanisms of killing of *Bacillus subtilis* spores by hypochlorite and chlorine dioxide. Journal of Applied Microbiology **95:**54-67.
- 54. Grieb TA, Forng R-Y, Stafford RE, Lin J, Almeida J, Bogdansky S, Ronholdt C, Drohan WN, Burgess WH. 2005. Effective use of optimized, high-dose (50kGy) gamma irradiation for pathogen inactivation of human bone allografts. Biomaterials 26:2033-2042.
- 55. Link L, Sawyer J, Venkateswaran K, Nicholson W. 2004. Extreme spore UV resistance of *Bacillus pumilus* isolates obtained from an ultraclean spacecraft assembly facility. Microbial ecology **47:**159-163.
- 56. **Huang Y, Wild BL, Morris SC.** 1992. Postharvest biological control of Penicillium digitatum decay on citrus fruit by *Bacillus pumilus*. Annals of applied biology **120**:367-372.

- 57. Giorno R, Bozue J, Cote C, Wenzel T, Moody K-S, Mallozzi M, Ryan M, Wang R, Zielke R, Maddock JR. 2007. Morphogenesis of the *Bacillus anthracis* spore. Journal of bacteriology **189**:691-705.
- 58. Gibbons HS, Broomall SM, McNew LA, Daligault H, Chapman C, Bruce D, Karavis M, Krepps M, McGregor PA, Hong C. 2011. Genomic signatures of strain selection and enhancement in *Bacillus atrophaeus* var. *globigii*, a historical biowarfare simulant. PLoS One 6:e17836.
- 59. Weber DJ, Sickbert-Bennett E, Gergen MF, Rutala WA. 2003. Efficacy of selected hand hygiene agents used to remove *Bacillus atrophaeus* (a surrogate of *Bacillus anthracis*) from contaminated hands. Jama **289**:1274-1277.
- 60. **Donk PJ.** 1920. A highly resistant thermophilic organism. Journal of bacteriology **5:**373.
- 61. Sharma A, Pandey A, Shouche YS, Kumar B, Kulkarni G. 2009. Characterization and identification of Geobacillus spp. isolated from Soldhar hot spring site of Garhwal Himalaya, India. Journal of basic microbiology **49**:187-194.
- 62. Warth AD, Ohye DF, Murrell WG. 1963. Location and composition of spore mucopeptide in Bacillus species. The Journal of cell biology 16:593-609.
- 63. **Prince HN, Prince DL, Prince RN.** 1991. Principles of viral control and transmission. Disinfection, sterilization, and preservation, 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger **41**:1-44.
- 64. **McDonnell G, Russell AD.** 1999. Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action, and resistance. Clinical microbiology reviews **12**:147-179.
- 65. Lynn B, Hugo W. 1983. Chemical disinfectants, antiseptics and preservatives.
- 66. **Gorman S, Scott E.** 2007. Chemical disinfectants, antiseptics and preservatives. Hugo and Russell's: Pharmaceutical Microbiology, Seventh Edition:285-305.
- 67. **Hogle JM.** 2002. Poliovirus cell entry: common structural themes in viral cell entry pathways. Annual review of microbiology **56**:677.
- 68. **CA RV.** 2014. Possible eradication of wild poliovirus type 3--worldwide, 2012. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report **63**:1031-1033.
- 69. Klein M, DeForest A. 1963, p 116-118. Chem. Specialists Manuf. Assoc. Proc.
- 70. Kurtz J, Lee T, Parsons A. 1980. The action of alcohols on rotavirus, astrovirus and enterovirus. Journal of Hospital Infection 1:321-325.
- 71. Narang H, Codd A. 1983. Action of commonly used disinfectants against enteroviruses. Journal of Hospital Infection 4:209-212.
- 72. **Rutala WA, Weber DJ, Control CfD.** 2008. Guideline for disinfection and sterilization in healthcare facilities, 2008. Centers for Disease Control (US).
- 73. Christensen RP, Robison RA, Robinson DF, Ploeger BJ, Leavitt RW, Bodily HL. 1989. Antimicrobial activity of environmental surface disinfectants in the absence and presence of bioburden. The Journal of the American Dental Association **119**:493-505.
- 74. **Tyler R, Ayliffe GAJ, Bradley C.** 1990. Virucidal Activity of Disinfectants Studies with the Poliovirus. Journal of Hospital Infection **15**:339-345.
- 75. **Bailly JL, Chambon M, Peiguelafeuille H, Laveran H, Dechamps C, Beytout D.** 1991. Activity of Glutaraldehyde at Low Concentrations (Less than 2 Percent) Against Poliovirus and its Relevance to Gastrointestinal Endoscope Disinfection Procedures. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **57:**1156-1160.
- 76. **Chambon M, Bailly JL, Peiguelafeuille H.** 1992. Activity of Glutaraldehyde at Low Concentrations Against Capsid Proteins of Poliovirus Type-1 and Echovirus Type-25. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **58**:3517-3521.

- 77. Chambon M, Archimbaud C, Bailly JL, Gourgand JM, Charbonne F, Peigue-Lafeuille H. 2004. Virucidal efficacy of glutaraldehyde against enteroviruses is related to the location of lysine residues in exposed structures of the VP1 capsid protein. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **70**:1717-1722.
- 78. **Specter SC, Hodinka RL, Wiedbrauk DL, Young SA.** 2009. Clinical virology manual. American Society for Microbiology Press.
- 79. Zur Hansen H. 1997. Papillomavirus in human cancer. Cancer 59:692.
- 80. **Meyers C.** 1996. Organotypic (raft) epithelial tissue culture system for the differentiation-dependent replication of papillomavirus. Methods in cell science **18**:201-210.
- 81. Saitanu K, Lund E. 1975. Inactivation of enterovirus by glutaraldehyde. Applied microbiology 29:571-574.
- 82. Meyers J, Ryndock E, Conway MJ, Meyers C, Robison R. 2014. Susceptibility of high-risk human papillomavirus type 16 to clinical disinfectants. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy **69**:1546-1550.
- 83. **Spaulding EH.** 1939. Studies on the chemical sterilization of surgical instruments. Surg Gynecol Obstet **69:**44.
- 84. 2000. Guidence for Industry and FDA Reviewers:content and format of preparket notification [510(k)] submissions for liquid chemical sterilants/high level disinfectants., US Food and Drug Administration website.
- 85. Koch R. 1881. Methods for the study of pathogenic organisms. Mitteilungen aus dem Kaiserlichen Gesundheitsamte 2:1-88.
- 86. Block SS. 2001. Disinfection, sterilization, and preservation.
- 87. **Kronig B, Paul TL.** 1897. The chemical foundations of the study of disinfection and of the action of poisons. Z. Hyg **25:**1-112.
- 88. **Rideal S, Walker JTA.** 1903. Standardisation of disinfectants. The Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health **24:**424-441.
- 89. Miner NA, Mulberry GK, Starks AN, Powers-Prather A, Entrup M, Armstrong M, Maida B. 1995. Identification of possible artifacts in the association of official analytical chemists sporicidal test. Applied and environmental microbiology 61:1658-1660.
- 90. 2005. AOAC Offical Method 966.04 Sporicidal Activity of Disinfectants. AOAC Official Methods of Analysis:12 -14.
- 91. 2015. Efficacy Testing Standards for Product Data Call-In Responses, p. 1-10. *In* Programs UEPAOoP (ed.).
- 92. **Bellamy K.** 1995. A review of the test methods used to establish virucidal activity. Journal of Hospital Infection **30:**389-396.
- 93. Cole E, Rutala WA, Nessen L, Wannamaker N, Weber DJ. 1990. Effect of methodology, dilution, and exposure time on the tuberculocidal activity of glutaraldehyde-based disinfectants. Applied and environmental microbiology 56:1813-1817.
- 94. Ascenzi J, Ezzell R, Wendt T. 1987. A more accurate method for measurement of tuberculocidal activity of disinfectants. Applied and environmental microbiology 53:2189-2192.
- 95. **Cole EC, Rutala WA, Carson JL, Alfano EM.** 1989. Pseudomonas pellicle in disinfectant testing: electron microscopy, pellicle removal, and effect on test results. Applied and environmental microbiology **55:**511-513.

- 96. **Gurevich I, Jacobsen E, Cunha BA.** 1996. Pseudoautoclave failure caused by differences in spore test steam sensitivities. American journal of infection control **24:**402-404.
- 97. Cole E, Rutala WA, Samsa GP. 1987. Disinfectant testing using a modified use-dilution method: collaborative study. Journal-Association of Official Analytical Chemists 71:1187-1194.
- 98. **Rutala WA, Cole EC.** 1987. Ineffectiveness of hospital disinfectants against bacteria: a collaborative study. Infection Control **8:**501-506.
- 99. **Tsai Y-L, Tran B, Sangermano LR, Palmer CJ.** 1994. Detection of poliovirus, hepatitis A virus, and rotavirus from sewage and ocean water by triplex reverse transcriptase PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **60**:2400-2407.
- 100. **Beloian A.** 1983. Methods of testing for sterility: Efficacy of sterilizers, sporicides, and sterilizing processes.
- 101. **Forsyth M.** 1975. A rate of kill test for measuring sporicidal properties of liquid sterilizers. Dev. Ind. Microbiol **16:**37-47.
- 102. **Peach D.** 1990. Disinfectants—EPA lacks assurance they work. GAO report to congressional requestors.
- 103. Stark R, Ferguson P, Garza P, Miner N. 1975. An evaluation of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists sporicidal test method. Dev. Ind. Microbiol 16:31-36.
- 104. March JK, Pratt MD, Lowe CW, Cohen MN, Satterfield BA, Schaalje B, O'Neill KL, Robison RA. 2015. The differential effects of heat-shocking on the viability of spores from *Bacillus anthracis*, *Bacillus subtilis*, and *Clostridium sporogenes* after treatment with peracetic acid- and glutaraldehyde-based disinfectants. MicrobiologyOpen 4:764-773.
- 105. **Tomasino SF, Hamilton MA, Garza HCA.** 2006. Modification to the AOAC sporicidal activity of disinfectants test (Method 966.04): collaborative study. Journal of AOAC International **89:**1373-1397.
- 106. Lloyd-Evans N, Springthorpe VS, Sattar SA. 1986. Chemical disinfection of human rotavirus-contaminated inanimate surfaces. Journal of hygiene 97:163-173.
- 107. Chambon M, Jallat-Archimbaud C, Bailly J-L, Gourgand JM, Charbonne F, Henquell C, Fuchs F, Peigue-Lafeuille H. 1997. Comparative sensitivities of Sabin and Mahoney poliovirus type 1 prototype strains and two recent isolates to low concentrations of glutaraldehyde. Applied and environmental microbiology 63:3199-3204.
- Robison RA, Osguthorpe RJ, Carroll SJ, Leavitt RW, Schaalje GB, Ascenzi JM. 1996. Culture variability associated with the US Environmental Protection Agency Tuberculocidal Activity Test Method. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62:2681-2686.
- 109. **Steinmann J.** 2004. Surrogate viruses for testing virucidal efficacy of chemical disinfectants. Journal of Hospital Infection **56:**49-54.
- 110. Sinclair RG, Rose JB, Hashsham SA, Gerba CP, Haas CN. 2012. Criteria for selection of surrogates used to study the fate and control of pathogens in the environment. Applied and environmental microbiology **78**:1969-1977.
- 111. **Gregory AW, Schaalje GB, Smart JD, Robison RA.** 1999. The mycobactericidal efficacy of ortho-phthalaldehyde and the comparative resistances of Mycobacterium bovis, Mycobacterium terrae, and Mycobacterium chelonae. Infection control and hospital epidemiology **20**:324-330.

- 112. March JK, Cohen MN, Lindsey JM, Millar DA, Lowe C-W, Bunnell AJ, O'Neill KL, Schaalje GB, Robison RA. 2012. The differential susceptibility of spores from virulent and attenuated *Bacillus anthracis* strains to aldehyde- and hypochlorite-based disinfectants. MicrobiologyOpen 1:407-414.
- 113. **Greenberg DL, Busch JD, Keim P, Wagner DM.** 2010. Identifying experimental surrogates for *Bacillus anthracis* spores: a review. Investigative genetics **1**:1.
- 114. **Power EGM, Russell AD.** 1990. Sporicidal Action of Alkaline Glutaraldeyde Factors Influencing Activity and a Comparison with Other Aldehydes. Journal of Applied Bacteriology **69:**261-268.
- 115. **Rubbo SD, Gardner JF, Webb RL.** 1967. Biocidal Activities of Glutaraldehyde and Related Compounds. Journal of Applied Bacteriology **30:**78-&.
- 116. **Migneault I, Dartiguenave C, Bertrand MJ, Waldron KC.** 2004. Glutaraldehyde: behavior in aqueous solution, reaction with proteins, and application to enzyme crosslinking. Biotechniques **37**:790-+.
- 117. **Gorman SP, Scott EM.** 1980. State of the Glutaraldehyde Molecule in Relation to its Biocidal Activity. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology **32:**131-132.
- 118. Scott EM, Gorman SP. 1991. Glutaraldehyde.
- 119. **Hardy PM, Nicholls A, Rydon HN.** 1969. The nature of glutaraldehyde in aqueous solution. Journal of the Chemical Society D: Chemical Communications: 565-566.
- 120. **Rasmusse.Ke, Albrecht.J.** 1974. Glutaraldehyde Influence of pH, Temperature, and Buffering on Polymerization Rate. Histochemistry **38**:19-26.
- 121. **Gorman SP, Scott EM.** 1979. Effect of Inorganic Cations on the Biocidal and Cellular Activity of Glutaraldehyde. Journal of Applied Bacteriology **47:**463-468.
- 122. **Bowes JH, Cater CW.** 1968. Interaction of Aldehydes with Collagen. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta **168:**341-&.
- 123. **Sabatini DD, Bensch K, Barrnett RJ.** 1963. Cytochemistry and electron microscopy The preservation of cellular ultrastructure and enzymatic activity by aldehyde fixation. The Journal of Cell Biology **17:**19-58.
- 124. Chisalita D, Chirita G, Alexa G. 1971. Kinetics of dialdehyde combination with the reactive groups of collagen. Ind. Usoara 18:269-281.
- 125. Alexa G, Chisalita D, Chirita G. 1971. Reaction of dialdehyde with functional groups in collagen. Rev. Tech. Ind. Cuir 63:5-6.
- 126. **Quiocho FA, Richards FM.** 1966. The Enzymic Behavior of Carboxypeptidase-A in the Solid State\*. Biochemistry **5**:4062-4076.
- 127. **Russell AD, Hopwood D.** 1976. The biological uses and importance of glutaraldehyde. Progress in medicinal chemistry **13**:271-301.
- 128. **Habeeb AFS, Hiramoto R.** 1968. Reaction of Proteins with Glutaraldehyde. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics **126**:16-&.
- 129. Weetall HH. 1974. Immobilized enzymes: analytical applications. Analytical chemistry 46:602A-604A p.
- 130. **Woodroof E.** 1978. Use of glutaraldehyde and formaldehyde to process tissue heart valves. Journal of bioengineering **2:**1.
- 131. Hughes RC, Thurman PF. 1970. Cross-linking of Bacterial Cell Walls with Glutaraldehyde. Biochemical Journal 119:925-&.
- 132. **Hopwood D.** 1975. Reactions of Glutaraldehyde with Nucleic-Acids. Histochem.J. **7:**267-276.

- 133. Adami RC, Rice KG. 1999. Metabolic stability of glutaraldehyde cross-linked peptide DNA condensates. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences **88**:739-746.
- 134. **Hopwood D.** 1972. Theoretical and Practical Aspects of Glutaraldehyde Fixation. Histochem.J. **4**:267-&.
- 135. **Stonehill AA, Krop S, Borick PM.** 1963. Buffered glutaraldehyde-a new chemical sterilizing solution. Am. J. Hosp. Pharm **20:**458-465.
- 136. **Russell AD, Munton TJ.** 1974. Bactericidal and Bacteriostatic Activity of Glutaraldehyde and its Interaction with Lysine and Proteins. Microbios **11**:147-152.
- 137. **Gorman SP, Scott EM, Hutchinson EP.** 1984. Interaction of the *Bacillus subtilis* spore protoplast, cortex, ion-exchange and coatless forms with glutaraldehyde. Journal of Applied Bacteriology **56**:95-102.
- 138. **Dyas A, Das B.** 1985. The activity of glutaraldehyde against Clostridium difficile. Journal of Hospital Infection 6:41-45.
- Coates D. 1996. Sporicidal activity of sodium dichloroisocyanurate, peroxygen and glutaraldehyde disinfectants against *Bacillus subtilis*. Journal of Hospital Infection 32:283-294.
- 140. **Borick PM, Dondershine FH, Chandler VL.** 1964. Alkalinized glutaraldehyde, a new antimicrobial agent. Journal of pharmaceutical sciences **53**:1273-1275.
- 141. **Cabrera-Martinez RM, Setlow B, Setlow P.** 2002. Studies on the mechanisms of the sporicidal action of ortho-phthalaldehyde. Journal of applied microbiology **92:**675-680.
- 142. **Thomas S, Russell AD.** 1974. Studies on Mechanism of Sporicidal Action of Glutaraldehyde. Journal of Applied Bacteriology **37:**83-92.
- 143. Sierra G, Boucher RMG. 1971. Ultrasonic synergistic effects in liquid-phase chemical sterilization. Applied microbiology 22:160-164.
- 144. **Borick PM.** 1968. Chemical sterilizers (chemosterilizers). Advances in applied microbiology **10**:291-312.
- 145. **Munton T, Russell A.** 1973. Interaction of glutaraldehyde with spheroplasts of *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Applied Bacteriology **36:**211-217.
- 146. Navarro JM, Monsan P. 1976, p 295-307. Annales de microbiologie.
- Gorman SP, Scott EM. 1979. Potentiation and Stabilization of Glutaraldehyde Biocidal Activity Utilizing Surfactant Divalent Cation Combinations. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 4:57-65.
- 148. Cheung H, So C, Sun S. 1998. Interfering mechanism of sodium bicarbonate on spore germination of *Bacillus stearothermophilus*. Journal of applied microbiology **84:**619-626.
- 149. **Babb J, Bradley C.** 1995. Endoscope decontamination: where do we go from here? Journal of Hospital Infection **30**:543-551.
- 150. **Christensen RP.** 1977. Effectiveness of glutaraldehyde as a chemosterilizer used in a wrapping technique on simulated metal instruments. Journal of dental research **56**:822-826.
- 151. **George R.** 1975. A critical look at chemical disinfection of anaesthetic apparatus. British journal of anaesthesia **47:**719-722.
- 152. Lin K, Park M, Baker H, Sidorowicz A. 1979. Disinfection of anesthesia and respiratory therapy equipment with acid glutaraldehyde solution. Respiratory care 24:321-327.
- 153. **Haugland R.** 1996. Fluorophores and their amine-reactive derivatives. Handbook of fluorescent probes and research products **9:**7-78.

- 154. **Skelley AM, Mathies RA.** 2003. Chiral separation of fluorescamine-labeled amino acids using microfabricated capillary electrophoresis devices for extraterrestrial exploration. Journal of Chromatography A **1021:**191-199.
- 155. **Bantan-Polak T, Kassai M, Grant KB.** 2001. A comparison of fluorescamine and naphthalene-2, 3-dicarboxaldehyde fluorogenic reagents for microplate-based detection of amino acids. Analytical biochemistry **297:**128-136.
- Lakadamyali M, Babcock H, Bates M, Zhuang X, Lichtman J. 2012. 3D multicolor super-resolution imaging offers improved accuracy in neuron tracing. PLoS One 7:e30826.
- 157. **Friedman A, Perrimon N.** 2006. A functional RNAi screen for regulators of receptor tyrosine kinase and ERK signalling. Nature **444**:230-234.
- 158. **Disney MD, Zheng J, Swager TM, Seeberger PH.** 2004. Detection of bacteria with carbohydrate-functionalized fluorescent polymers. Journal of the American Chemical Society **126**:13343-13346.
- 159. **Zhang S, Tan HC, Ooi EE.** 2011. Visualizing Dengue Virus through Alexa Fluor Labeling. Jove-Journal of Visualized Experiments.
- 160. **Zhang SL-X, Tan H-C, Hanson BJ, Ooi EE.** 2010. A simple method for Alexa Fluor dye labelling of dengue virus. Journal of Virological Methods **167**:172-177.
- 161. Stojkovic B, Torres EM, Prouty AM, Patel HK, Zhuang L, Koehler TM, Ballard JD, Blanke SR. 2008. High-throughput, single-cell analysis of macrophage interactions with fluorescently labeled *Bacillus anthracis* spores. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74:5201-5210.
- 162. Gericke M, Pinches A. 2006. Microbial production of gold nanoparticles. Gold bulletin 39:22-28.
- 163. Zeng S, Yong K-T, Roy I, Dinh X-Q, Yu X, Luan F. 2011. A review on functionalized gold nanoparticles for biosensing applications. Plasmonics 6:491-506.
- 164. **Marie-Christine Daniel DA.** 2003. Gold Nanoparticles: Assembly, Supramolecular Chemistry, Quantum-Size-Related Properties, and Applications toward Biology, Catalysts, and Nanotechnology. Chemical Review **104:**293-246.
- 165. Everts M, Saini V, Leddon JL, Kok RJ, Stoff-Khalili M, Preuss MA, Millican CL, Perkins G, Brown JM, Bagaria H, Nikles DE, Johnson DT, Zharov VP, Curiel DT. 2006. Covalently linked Au nanoparticles to a viral vector: potential for combined photothermal and gene cancer therapy. Nano letters 6:587-591.
- 166. **Burrill CP, Strings VR, Andino R.** 2013. Poliovirus: generation, quantification, propagation, purification, and storage. Current protocols in microbiology:15H. 11.11-15H. 11.27.
- 167. Technologies L. 2012. Alexa Fluor Succinimidyl Esters (NHS esters).
- 168. **Riesenman PJ, Nicholson WL.** 2000. Role of the spore coat layers in *Bacillus subtilis* spore resistance to hydrogen peroxide, artificial UV-C, UV-B, and solar UV radiation. Applied and environmental microbiology **66**:620-626.
- 169. 2014. Standard Operating Procedure for Production of Spores of Clostridium difficile or Use in the Efficacy Evaluation of Antimicrobial Agents, p. 13. *In* Agency UEP (ed.), Ft. Mead, MD.
- 170. **Duncan CL, Strong DH.** 1968. Improved Medium for the Sporulation of *Clostridium perfringens*. Applied Microbiology **16**:82-&.

- 171. Permpoonpattana P, Phetcharaburanin J, Mikelsone A, Dembek M, Tan S, Brisson M-C, La Ragione R, Brisson AR, Fairweather N, Hong HA. 2013. Functional characterization of Clostridium difficile spore coat proteins. Journal of bacteriology 195:1492-1503.
- 172. **Hargreaves KR, Clokie MRJ.** 2014. Clostridium difficile phages: Still difficult? Frontiers in Microbiology **5**.
- 173. **Okuda K, Urabe I, Yamada Y, Okada H.** 1991. Reaction of Glutaraldehyde with Amino and Thiol Compounds. Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering **71**:100-105.
- 174. Yan EK, Cao HL, Zhang CY, Lu QQ, Ye YJ, He J, Huang LJ, Yin DC. 2015. Crosslinked protein crystals by glutaraldehyde and their applications. RSC Adv. 5:26163-26174.
- 175. **Power E, Russell A.** 1989. Glutaraldehyde: its uptake by sporing and non-sporing bacteria, rubber, plastic and an endoscope. Journal of applied bacteriology **67:**329-342.
- 176. Lai EM, Phadke ND, Kachman MT, Giorno R, Vazquez S, Vazquez JA, Maddock JR, Driks A. 2003. Proteomic analysis of the spore coats of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Bacillus anthracis*. Journal of Bacteriology 185:1443-1454.
- 177. Knappe M, Bodevin S, Selinka H-C, Spillmann D, Streeck RE, Chen XS, Lindahl U, Sapp M. 2007. Surface-exposed amino acid residues of HPV1611 protein mediating interaction with cell surface heparan sulfate. Journal of Biological Chemistry 282:27913-27922.
- 178. **Mistry N, Wibom C, Evander M.** 2008. Cutaneous and mucosal human papillomaviruses differ in net surface charge, potential impact on tropism. Virology journal **5**:1.